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Summary of
key statistics

6 Colleges
4 Institutes
21,092 students
1,568 academic, research
and technical staff
3,081 associate lecturers
1,582 support staff
Number of students at the University by course level

1,415

15,895

3,782

Further education

Undergraduate

Postgraduate

arts.ac.uk

Our student profile
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45%

17%

38%

United Kingdom

EU

Other international

Number of students
taught by Awarding Body

58,427

Number of students
taught by Short Courses

12,609

Number of students at
the University by subject

Communication
and Graphic Design

2,291

Fashion Design

2,059

Fine Art

2,066

Business & Management
and Science

2,109

Journalism PR
Media & Publishing

2,117

FE & Prep

1,685

Animation Interactive
Film and Sound

1,450

Theatre Screen and
Performance Design

1,192

Illustration

1,042

Architecture and
Spatial Design

1,091

Photography

1,029

Textiles and
Materials

887

3D Design and
Product Design

734

Accessories Footwear
and Jewellery

464

Curation and Culture

473

Postgraduate Teaching

403
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President &
Vice-Chancellor’s
foreword

Universities are
here to make a difference,
through our students and
our ideas.
In March, I started work alongside Sir Nigel
Carrington for a month-long apprenticeship
at this extraordinary institution, taking up the
reins as President and Vice-Chancellor in
April.

arts.ac.uk

Nigel defined UAL’s character as a confident,
world-leading institution. Under his
leadership, UAL rose to Top 2 in the world
for Art & Design in the QS World University
Rankings by Subject, a position we have
held for three years running. This year, we
have also risen significantly in the Complete
University Guide 2022 and Guardian Best
Universities 2022.
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Nigel’s most significant achievement is to
put UAL – a very young institution when
he arrived – in a strong position. This
has enabled us to grow our reputation
internationally, bring our estate to a worldclass standard and invest in staff and
students. His passionate interest in the
students and their work is reflected in
the creation of the Creative Future Fund,
established by his personal donation. The
fund will provide bursaries for students
in financial need, helping UAL students,
regardless of their background, achieve their
full potential.
This success is due to a remarkable
community of students and staff who, more

than a year into the pandemic, remain
passionate and innovative, changing lives
in local communities and overseas. For
example, London College of Fashion’s
People’s PPE project helped Syrian refugees
in Za’atari refugee camp to manufacture
hygiene products, reusable masks, shields
and gowns. Creative Elephant is a new
digital platform that provides the latest arts
and creative events from leading venues
near London College of Communication.
The Climate Emergency Interactive won The
People’s Voice in the Public Service and
Activism category at The Webby Awards.
This year, we will set out a new strategy for
UAL, focused on social purpose. Universities
aren’t businesses – we are here to make a
difference, through the students and ideas
we send out into the world, and the change
they make in business, public service and
civil society.
In developing the strategy, we have already
made three ambitious commitments.
First, we are working together to make UAL
an anti-racist university. After consulting
staff and students, we have developed a
comprehensive anti-racism action plan and
pledged that 30% of our staff will be people
of colour within three years.
Second, we are accelerating our response
to the climate emergency. Our pledge to

achieve net zero across our total carbon
footprint by 2040 covers UAL’s full direct
and indirect emissions, including the supply
chain and international student travel. It puts
UAL in the vanguard of the higher education
response to climate change.
Third, we anticipate huge demand for tertiary
education as economies across the world are
rebuilt. We will meet this demand by taking
advantage of the technology changes which
transformed learning during the pandemic
lockdowns. We are starting with a set of
14 online and low-residency courses. By
2022–23, we expect a fifth of our Masters
offer to be delivered online.
We believe that creativity and creative
education make a significant difference to
social, environmental and economic issues.
Great opportunities and challenges face
higher education, the creative economy
and the environment. But we are confident
that our students – the creative graduates
of the future – and our staff will seize the
opportunities and find solutions to global
challenges over the next decade.

James Purnell
President and Vice-Chancellor
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Responding
to Covid-19

Supporting our students

During this pandemic year, we changed
how we teach and support our students,
adressing the huge strain that social
distancing places on a practice-based
education.
We invested in the capabilities and facilities
that students need to progress in their
studies, whether through digital learning
or by accessing facilities for self-directed
study. Having shifted to online learning in
2020, we responded quickly when the UK
Government once more directed us to close
our campuses. Our examination boards
were given flexibility to adjust grades to
ensure fairness.
Teams from across UAL came together to
established a Covid-19 test centre at Central
Saint Martins. During 6 days, 3,322 selfadministered Lateral Flow Device tests were
taken, with students and staff attending from
all 6 colleges. This meant that those students
who needed to travel for the Christmas break
could get tested and make the most of the
government’s student travel window. Later
in the year, test centres were opened at our
other College sites. Staffing was facilitated
by UAL ArtsTemps. Through our Community
Pledge, we encourage staff and students to
undertake regular testing and participate in
the Covid-19 vaccination programme.

arts.ac.uk

The pandemic caused students to
experience financial difficulties. We expanded
our Hardship Fund to all students, and
introduced an Equipment Hardship Fund to
help with the costs associated with remote
learning. Students were also allowed to
surrender their tenancy agreement early,
without financial penalty, if they were unable
to return to London.
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For staff, we continued to use the Temporary
Planning, Review and Appraisal process which
has a strong emphasis on staff wellbeing.
We also gave staff two additional “Thank
you days” – recognising the hard work and
commitment of staff during the pandemic.

Imagining a post pandemic
future
Throughout the year, UAL academics
have led or contributed to research and
knowledge exchange projects which
respond to the global crisis.

London College of Communication has
supported small business throughout the
pandemic via the Digital Grid Partnership,
supported by Mayor of London and the
European Social Fund. This offered a support
package to grow businesses and provide
training in digital skills.
Supported by London College of Fashion,
the Culture Box project designs and
distributes bespoke culture boxes to people
with dementia in care homes. The boxes
contain information on virus transmission
and prevention to protect the elderly and
most vulnerable, alongside creative
activities co-developed with artists and
musicians that encourage users to create
art and music.
Also at London College of Fashion, People’s
PPE teamed artists and scientists with
United Nations High Commissioner for
Refugees (UNCHR) and Syrian refugees in
Za’atari refugee camp, to manufacture hand
hygiene products, reusable masks, shields
and gowns inside the camp. The PPE
was designed for local needs, protecting
those in the densely populated camp as
well as the local Jordanian population from
community transmission of Covid-19.
UAL partnered with Ananas Anam, creators
of Piñatex, a natural alternative to leather
made from pineapple leaves. Funded by
UKRI’s Sustainable Innovation Fund, the
project aims to create prototypes
of biodegradable hygienic wipes and
reusable masks.
‘CSM loves NHS’ mobilised UAL students,
staff and the public to sew non-surgical
scrubs to support the NHS and frontline
health workers throughout 2020. Their work

was then selected for inclusion in the
London Design Biennale exhibition.
Led by London College of Communication,
the Pharma Factory project now includes
an extra workpackage to contribute to
fight Covid-19, at the request of the EU
Commission. This focuses on plant platforms
for the production of Covid-19 reagents and
biopharmaceuticals.
UAL researchers ran a national study
exploring how people were engaging
with online cultural experiences during
lockdown. The study was part of the UAL
multi-partner ‘Digital, Regeneration and
Experience Economy modelling’ (DREEm:)
– a Covid-19 rapid response initiative led
by London College of Fashion and funded
by Arts and Humanities Research Council
(AHRC) to support UK experience providers
in developing digital products which enhance
their physical counterparts.
Virtual Innovation and Support Networks, led
by London College of Fashion and funded
by Erasmus+, will provide educators with
opportunities for innovation, collaboration and
professional development in rural areas or in
enforced isolation.
Led by Chelsea, Camberwell and Wimbledon
Colleges, ACCELERATE aims to improve
the teaching of art and design higher
education in a post-pandemic Europe.
Funded by Erasmus+, it develops innovative
methodologies, tools, platforms, and
resources for accessible immersive learning.
It will explore new possibilities for pedagogy
and digital innovation.
HEarTs Professional is exploring the health,
economic and social impact of Covid-19
on professionals in the performing arts.
Academics from Imperial, Royal College of
Music and UAL Creative Computing Institute
are reconceptualising consumer value and
business resilience in the UK’s creative and
visitor sectors, through online and digital
products.

9
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We changed how we
teach and support our
students, addressing
the huge strain that
social distance places
on a practice-based
education.
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Celebrating
our
graduates

arts.ac.uk

As social distancing eased, our graduates displayed
their final projects in physical, in-person and digital
summer events. From billboards in Elephant &
Castle to shopfronts in the West End, incredible
work could be seen across London. London College
of Fashion’s Class of 2021 Summer Showcase
was the biggest celebration of world-leading talent
that the College has staged, bringing BA and MA
level students together for the first time. UAL’s
online Graduate Showcase was redesigned and
accompanied by a high-level events programme,
with visitor numbers rising 30% year-on-year. At the
same time, our virtual graduation ceremony platform
had over 11k unique users with contributions
from across the Colleges and Creative Computing
Institute and around the world. The Classes of 2020
and 2021 have been invited to a future in-person
ceremony in the next five years.
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We also secured specialist support to enhance the
assistance we provide to our students – appointing
a dedicated Graduate Support Specialist to each
College to support students, whether they are
looking to gain a graduate-level role or become
self-employed. Graduates also received extended
access to UAL email services and apps. Via our new
Graduate Support Hub, they can access online career
resources and information.
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UAL
Graduate
showcase

Opposite page, top to bottom
Sachi Patil
MA Graphic Communication Design,
Central Saint Martins
Hannah Seddon
BA Production Arts for Screen,
Wimbledon College of Arts

arts.ac.uk

This page, left to right
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Diana Silva Amado
BA Fim Practice, London College of Communcation
Ross Pole
BA Fine Art Sculpture, Camberwell College of Arts

Neven Rae Thomas-Glendinning,
BA Textile Design, Chelsea College of Art
Ying Qu
MA Fashion Design Technology (Menswear),
London College of Fashion
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Strategic
review

Overview

UAL meets the world’s need for
creativity. We are among the most
renowned international institutions in arts,
design, fashion, media, communication
and performing arts. Our critical mass and
reputation enable us to take a leading role
in the creative economy in the UK, Europe
and beyond. We actively influence global
cultural debates through the diversity and
international reach of our staff, students
and alumni.
As a creative university, our future is formed
by the imagination, energy and skills of our
staff, students, alumni, honoraries and the
many academics from other institutions who
work closely with us each year.
Our success is founded upon the specific
histories, identities and achievements of
our six constituent Colleges and their long
engagement with creative, intellectual and
professional life, and more recently, the
pioneering work of our four Institutes. We
are internationally regarded as the UK’s
pre-eminent provider of undergraduate art
and design education. In 2021 UAL retained
our place at second in the world for Art and
Design in the QS World Rankings by Subject.

arts.ac.uk

Demand for places is high, with 32,859
applications for 6,111 undergraduate places
in 2020/21.
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International students from 128 countries
form 38% of our student body, with a further
17% drawn from EU 27 countries.

Over 21,000 students study on 216
accredited courses in art and design at
UAL. These cover all levels of study, from
foundation diplomas and undergraduate
degrees through to postgraduate taught
and research degrees. In 2020/21, UAL
Awarding Body (UALAB) had over 58,000
students from 238 colleges, universities and
schools registered on its qualifications, and
issued results to 53,000 to progress to HE,
employment or further education and training.
The awarding body worked closely with the
DfE, Ofqual, other national regulators and
awarding organisations to deliver fair and
valid grades via the Teacher Assessed Grade
process, delivering results to UCAS by agreed
deadlines. Despite extremely challenging
market conditions which saw a drop in the
national cohort of students taking UALAB
qualifications, the Awarding Body delivered a
£4.8 million contribution to to UAL.
UAL delivers an extensive range of nonaccredited short courses and study
programmes to over 12,000 students during
this academic year. Despite significant impact
due to the coronavirus pandemic, these
courses accounted for over £9.8 million of
income in 2020/21. Academic Enterprises
International ran the presessional and
EPIC Language programmes for over 650
international students aiming to progress
to UAL FE and degree study, launched
new online courses, and welcomed 119
Study Abroad students from 22 countries.
UAL Short Courses Ltd taught over 11,500
students on over 1,100 courses, including

over 750 learners aged 7–17 year olds on the
Future Creatives programme.
The majority of these courses were delivered
online this academic year due to the ongoing
impact of coronavirus, but in building
our online learning approaches UAL has
continued to deliver these important courses
as well as developing new course delivery
formats, enabling students from all over the
UK and the world to continue their creative
learning journey.
After operating internally for 10 years, UAL
ArtsTemps was spun-out as a subsidiary
in April 2021. The sole purpose of this was
to enable the business to generate job
opportunities for students and alumni with
external businesses. Providing employment
enables students and alumni to enhance
their employability whilst earning income with
flexible work to fit around their studies.
UAL has agreements with 250 international
institutions under which students study at
UAL as part of exchange, Study Abroad, or
through government sponsorship.

Camberwell College of Arts
Central Saint Martins
Chelsea College of Arts
London College of
Communication
London College of Fashion
Wimbledon College of Arts
UAL Creative Computing
Institute
UAL Fashion, Technology
and Textiles Institute
UAL Social Design Institute
UAL Decolonising Arts
Institute
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Our strategic
priorities
UAL focuses on four key strategic
objectives, as set out in our strategy
for 2015 – 22

1.
Delivering
transformative
education
Requires us to ensure that all our students can reach their
full potential. We work in partnership with them to develop
and deliver an education which is responsive, responsible,
imaginative and inspirational.

2.
Developing worldleading research
and enterprise

arts.ac.uk

Requires us to create and apply knowledge which develops our
disciplines, makes a positive contribution to society and the
economy, and generates new sources of income to support our
academic ambition.

18

3.
Communication
and collaboration
Requires us to place the University at the centre of the debate
about the future of arts, design, fashion, media, communication
and performing arts, and to improve the ways in which we engage
with academic, cultural and business partners in the UK and
across the world.

4.
Building an
inspirational
environment
Requires us to have a world-class physical environment
and underlying infrastructure. This is to support our students
and staff in their academic ambitions and increase our
engagement with our wider communities.
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1

Delivering
transformative
education

Our sector position
— #2 in the world for Art & Design:
QS World University Rankings by
Subject 2021
—#
 72 in the UK – Stonewall Workplace
Equality Index – 2020

arts.ac.uk

— #26 in The Guardian Best Universities
2022 – up 19 places
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— Wimbledon College of Arts:
Top 10 International Costume Design
Schools 2021, Hollywood Reporter
— #52 in the Times Good Uni Guide
– up 31 places

New courses
— BA (Hons) Creative Technical Theatre
(Wimbledon College of Arts) 20/21
— BA (Hons) Technical Arts for Theatre and
Performance (Wimbledon College of Arts) 20/21
— BA (Hons) Fashion Media Practice and Criticism
(London College of Fashion) 20/21
— MA Global Collaborative Design Practice
(CCW and Kyoto Institute of Technology)
— MA Theatre and Production Design (Wimbledon)

For the third year running, UAL has
ranked 2nd for Art and Design in the
QS University World Rankings by
Subject 2021 – maintaining our status
as the global leader of undergraduate
creative education.

We aim to eliminate our awarding gap by
2024/25. To aid inclusive assessment, we
introduced new inclusion guidance to help
staff grade student work online. This resource
puts emphasis on the student’s process and
proposal, as opposed to realisation.
Based on a successful pilot, we implemented
contextual admissions from 2020/21. This
is supported by new guidance, staff training
and online advice that explains the process,
eligibility criteria and benefits to prospective
students.
Responding to the Black Lives Matter
movement, we pledged to dismantle
systemic racism within the university and
the creative industries. Naina Patel was
appointed our Race Champion and in April
2021 we announced our Anti-Racism Action
Plan. We set a demanding target for BAME
staff representation, committing that 30% of
our staff will be people of colour by 2024.
This will apply to our workforce overall and
to every College and department. The 30%
target means that our workforce will look like
our student body – certainly for the first time
since we became a university in 2004 and
perhaps longer.
Academic Futures is our recruitment
campaign to increase diversity among
academic staff. In May, we opened
applications for 58 academic posts in a
range of subject areas. We used enhanced
recruitment methods, consultations for
candidates from underrepresented groups
and online events for prospective candidates,
exploring a vision of academic practice rooted
in cultural and social diversity. As we progress
our application for the Race Equality Charter,
we aim to create an inclusive environment
where individuals can thrive.
Shades of Noir formally became part of UAL
in October 2020, with founder Aisha Richards
appointed Director for the newly developed

knowledge-exchange Centre for Race and
Practice Based Social Justice.
Our campaign for Black History Month
2020 shared reflections from colleagues
and published our popular Black Visionaries
Wall, celebrating the achievements of Black
figures. UAL Libraries’ campaign featured
recommended reading from the library
catalogue. We also launched new subject
guides on Black History and Race, racism and
anti-racism.
The London Contemporary Dance School
signed a validating partnership agreement
for their undergraduate and postgraduate
programmes from September 2021.
From autumn 2021, we will open our
Colleges to students at any life stage
anywhere in the world, with a set of online
and low-residency courses. Students who
currently cannot undertake residential
courses will now be able to gain a worldclass creative education with us.
Wimbledon College of Arts is to develop new
teaching on designing for theatre production
in virtual reality, a project that will develop
students’ creative talent in immersive theatre
production.

restrictions to student learning in a practicebased environment. This was especially
felt in access to learning resources and the
learning community. In general, post-92 and
specialist institutions saw bigger drops in
satisfaction compared to the sector overall,
which fell by -8%.
We celebrated LGBTQ+ History Month with a
dedicated programme of events, staff profiles
and student resources. With June came
Pride, led by conversations from LGBTQ+
communities and allies. We shared graduate
work and heard about the inspiration behind
it. On International Women’s Day, staff
nominated women inclusive of all identities
that they are inspired by, recording a rendition
of Maya Angelou’s ‘Phenomenal Woman’.
On International Non-Binary People’s Day
we signposted to relevant events, resources
and content. All new UAL buildings offer
gender-neutral toilets for students and staff.
We marked Transgender Awareness Week,
as we highlight issues faced by transgender
members of our community face.
We launched an online sexual consent training
module in consultation with Rape Crisis and
Arts Students’ Union.

UAL has won our first Collaborative Award
for Teaching Excellence, awarded to the
Academic Enhancement and Attainment
team. The team is leading a collaborative
national project to enhance equity in student
outcomes: ‘Belonging through assessment:
Pipelines of compassion’. Working with
Glasgow School of Art and Leeds Arts
University, we aim to understand and enhance
belonging in creative higher education through
compassionate assessment.
Our National Student Survey results fell
overall by -13% to 58%. Underlying data
show the deep impact of the pandemic
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2

Research
and enterprise

modesty and modernity, as the world wakes
up to the global market for Muslim and
modest fashion.

UAL Research Online marked its first
decade as a pioneering arts, design and
media-focused research repository.
Our first all-virtual Research Season
explored the theme of Earth and Equity:
Integrating Environmental and Racial Justice.
‘Cultural Urgencies’, a five-part roundtable
series hosted by the Decolonising Arts
Institute Research Fellows, drew together
overlapping concerns with representation,
equity, justice and wellbeing in the fields
of visual culture, higher education and art
institutions.
We collated evidence of our research
excellence which will determine our national
research profile under the Research
Excellence Framework, REF2022. This is
an authoritative body of research by UAL
academics over the past decade on topics
including Black artists, the clothed body,
social design, and creative interventions in
archives and collections, prisons and the
natural environment.
UAL leads a coalition of partners on
the London pilot of T-Factor, including
Knowledge Quarter London, Camden
Council, LendLease and Somers Town
Community Association. This Horizon
research project designs community creative
hubs into major urban redevelopment
projects, making use of their physical
spaces and waiting time.

arts.ac.uk

The Business of Fashion, Textiles and
Technology Creative R&D Partnership
continues to shape a future for the Fashion,
Textiles and Technology industry. Their
research this year mapped this ecosystem
and its potential. £1.2 million of funding
and business support was awarded to 10
industry SMEs in 2020, with a second and
third round of funding was made available to
support innovative sector businesses.
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Professor Reina Lewis was consulting
curator of the exhibition Contemporary
Muslim Fashion, which exhibited at San
Francisco’s de Young Museum. This
explored the fusion of faith and fashion,

£1.2 million of
funding and
business support
was awarded to
10 industry SMEs
in 2020, with a
second and third
round of funding
was made available
to support
innovative sector
businesses.

At London College of Fashion, Bio-inspired
Textiles helps textile designers create
sustainable designs informed by biology.
This research explores seven biological
structural design elements found in the
natural world that can combat resource
efficiency, longevity, and recovery.
Researcher Elisa Palomino’s short film
‘Preservation of Hezhen fish skin tradition
through fashion higher education’ won
the Best Green Fashion Film award at the
Fashion Film Festival Milano. It adds to
Elisa’s ongoing body of research into the use
of fish skin as a sustainable raw material for
fashion and making.
London College of Communication’s Comics
Research Hub hosted the 11th International
Graphic Novel and Comics Conference with
the Journal of Graphic Novels and Comics,
and Studies in Comics. It explored the social
impact and possible futures of comics.
London College of Fashion’s Masculinities
Research Hub convened the Globalising
Men’s Style Conference, looking at the
fashion cultures of locales that are underrepresented in existing literature, and
engaging with notions of globalisation and
hybridity.
Centre for Sustainable Fashion at London
College of Fashion published its new
strategy for 2020–25, launching an online
short course: Fashion Values Nature. The
new Sustainable Fashion Glossary with
Condé Nast is the first global resource on
sustainable fashion and the industry’s role in
the climate emergency.
Centre for Circular Design at Chelsea is
leading work towards a circular textiles
economy by 2050. Work is underway to
populate the Knowledge Hub, the world’s
largest digital library of circular textiles case
studies.

TrAIN Research Centre was awarded an
international grant for a new research project
called Worlding Public Cultures: The Arts
and Social Innovation. It will facilitate an
international exchange of critical information
centred on the impact of globalisation
on art and decolonial curation in the field
of transnational art. Contributing to our
postgraduate curricula, TrAIN’s transnational
MA seminar ‘Monuments, Museums and
Myths: the colonial legacy and the modern
nation’, brought together Chelsea’s MA
Fine Arts and our research community with
staff and students from the Museum of
Contemporary Art at the University of São
Paulo in Brazil. TrAIN also welcomed several
new researchers and Associates.
Photography and the Archive Research
Centre (PARC) brought together academics
and cultural experts for The Decolonising
Lens, a webinar series. Guests from
across the creative sectors challenged the
Eurocentric, phallocentric and heterocentric
control of traditional academic and cultural
canons. The series continues through the
2021/2022 academic year.
Centre for Fashion Curation launched the
Exhibiting Fashion platform, which exhibits
details of international fashion exhibitions
for the purposes of capturing, investigating

We have launched
UAL’s new
Knowledge
Exchange Strategy
2021–26, with
social purpose and
sustainability as
fundamental values.

and reappraising the discipline of fashion
exhibition-making. The Centre is also starting
an AHRC-funded project investigating
fashion exhibition-making in UK museums.
Fashion Innovation Agency partnered with
award-winning production house RYOT,
Kaleidoscope and the Museum of Other
Realities to create The Fabric of Reality –
a first-of-its-kind ‘phygital’ virtual reality,
immersive fashion exhibition.
We have launched UAL’s new Knowledge
Exchange Strategy 2021–26, with social
purpose and sustainability as fundamental
values. This reframes knowledge exchange
at UAL as a form of social entrepreneurship
which promotes the value of creativity to
deliver positive change. Projects include
collaborative opportunities with The Africa
Centre and, with Wikimedia UK, the
expansion of London College of Fashion’s
Decolonising Wikipedia Network across UAL.
Knowledge Exchange academics Dr Lara
Salinas and Naomi Bulliard were appointed
to the national KE Concordat evaluation
panel, the only evaluators selected from the
creative industries.
UAL joined forces with Royal Northern
College of Music and Central School of
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Speech & Drama to launch the StART
Entrepreneurship Programme. Funded by
Office for Students and Research England, the
project has engaged over 1,000 students and
graduates within the creative arts in its first
year, gearing them up to develop their own
business ideas.
Central Saint Martins heads the knowledge
exchange project CRAFT: Activating Pedagogy
for Ceramic Education Futures. This is an
Erasmus+ Strategic Partnership in response to
the loss of heritage skills in ceramics, one of the
oldest crafts in human history.
UAL responded to the New European
Bauhaus (NEB) with ‘unbauhaus’, led by
our Institutes. This challenged the NEB
framing of beautiful, inclusive and sustainable
design in a series of discussions that posited
alternative futures, looking beyond beauty
and considering matters of inclusion and
sustainability.
A new Institutes Associates Scheme has
streamlined the application process for UAL
academics to become an associate with one
or more institute.

arts.ac.uk

The Creative Computing Institute’s
Essential Creative Technologies courses
were included on the Government Skills
Toolkit and are available via Future Learn.
The Institute’s research received Artists +
Machine Intelligence Research Awards from
Google. Our public engagement included a
Technology and Power online learning series,
recruitment events for the new MA Internet
Equalities, and Tech Yard, a free creative
computing afterschool club for kids age
10–13. We launched Bits n Bytes, a playful
and gentle video series introduction to creative
technology, creators and activism. And we
launched ‘ExpertTrack’ on FutureLearn with
Coding Black Females, UKBlackTech and
Feminist Internet. This online learning course
explores how technology development should
create and advocate for gender inclusion, antiracism, and diverse innovation.
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The Social Design Institute worked with BOP
Consulting on a framework for the landmark
Design Economy 2021, on behalf of the Design
Council. This is a comprehensive undertaking
to examine the social, environmental and
economic value of UK design. Our Seed Fund
is supporting three small-scale social design
projects within UAL that work with students,
local councils and communities to address
knife crime and vaccine hesitancy in parts of
London. Our research projects include research
into art and policy; an AI Readiness Toolkit
for professional services firms; the Feminist
Pensions Project, aimed at understanding
why British pension policy is gendered, and
what can be done about it; and Evaluating
Placemaking, which examines the arts and
design place-based interventions.

Poplar Works, a partnership
between Poplar HARCA,
London College of Fashion and
The Trampery celebrated its
first birthday.

Decolonising Arts Institute published the first
round of Decolonising Archives research in
December 2020: a set of e-papers, video and
audio offering fresh perspectives on material
within UAL’s Archives and Collections. With
a new cohort of researchers in residence,
its programmes include Digital Artist in
Residence, with Iniva, and Decolonising
Museums Curatorial Research Network, in
partnership with the Arts Council Collection,
British Council Collection and Manchester Art
Gallery’s collections. The Institute published
a Covid x BLM Index. Sourced via UAL
staff and students, it recommends reading,
listening and viewing to support thinking,
visualising and enacting resistance in the
pandemic. The Institute led the Contemporary
Art Society’s member seminar programme,
Doing the Work: Embedding Anti-Racism and
Decolonisation into Museum Practice. The
Institute’s first webinars are available on UAL
Short Courses.

Sheffield-Haworth, highlights the valuable
skillsets creative thinkers can bring to
workplaces outside the creative sector.

In April 2021, Academic Enterprise launched
UAL ArtsTemps Ltd, an end-to-end
recruitment service, giving employers access
to London’s most inspiring and creative
talent: our students and alumni. UAL Short
Courses has added live webinars to their
portfolio – professional development sessions
across a range of topics enabling participants
to upskill and develop their professional
practices. Future Creatives continues to
innovate. Their next step is to launch graded
examinations, comparable to music grades,
awarded by UAL Awarding Body; creating
a journey for young people from the age of
seven to develop their creativity.

Poplar Works, a partnership between Poplar
HARCA, London College of Fashion and The
Trampery celebrated its first birthday. It has
a growing membership of 40 small fashion,
making and creative businesses. Harold
Tillman CBE, a long-term alumnus and
supporter of the College, is now Business &
Enterprise Advisor at the College.

Careers & Employability helps underrepresented students to make a living
doing what they love through its Creative
Shift team. Other key initiatives include the
Creative Business Accelerator in partnership
with Google for Startups. The Value of
Creativity, a campaign with city recruiters

On Earth Day 2021, Central Saint Martins
and LVMH announced a new phase of the
Maison/0 collaboration, harnessing the
power of creativity and education to embed
regenerative design for a better future within
living systems. CSM Digital Innovation
Season – in partnership with Three – was
an extracurricular, interdisciplinary series
with 23 events for students and six public
Hybrid Futures talks. And 2020 marked two
decades of collaboration between BA and
MA Fashion and L’Oréal Professionnel.
For the 20th birthday of MSc Cosmetic
Science at London College of Fashion,
students developed an interactive Instagram
filter that allows users to find out more about
the active ingredients in everyday cosmetics.

London College of Communication MA
Photography students explored new
possibilities in exhibitions and curatorial
practice through a virtual collection, ‘Past,
Present Tense, Future Perfect’, devised with
Turner Contemporary. The College launched
‘Ethics for Making’ in partnership with Lotus
Films – a free, digital resource for students,
teachers and makers to explore ethics in
creative practice. And the College’s Design
School explored social innovation and
sustainability for possible futures in 2030
through DESIGN ACTION – LCC x London
Design Festival 2020.
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3

Communication
and collaboration

Graduating students from the UAL Class
of 2020 and their lecturers curated and
exhibited in London Grads Now for the
reopening of Saatchi Gallery to the public in
September 2020. This thought-provoking
exhibition of London art school talent
followed the unprecedented cancellation of
graduation shows across London due to
Covid-19 restrictions. This enabled graduates
to showcase their works safely within
international-quality gallery spaces.
Graduating Wimbledon Performance
Design students from Wimbledon took over
vacant retail units and other key locations
in central London in a partnership between
businesses and UAL as part of our 2021
Graduate Showcase. Launched by Lord
Mayor of London William Russell, more than
100 students had their final degree pieces
exhibited in 30 sites across the City of
London, the West End and Victoria.

STEM research and development agencies
on bio-medical engineering, healthy
aging and solutions for local wool. It also
examines the role of the creative industries
in urban regeneration processes and
accessible creative education through city
summer schools.

A Climate Emergency Network has been
established at UAL, and hosted an online
event ‘Five Days. 10 Years. One Planet.’ This
brought together intersecting debates on
climate, planetary, social and racial justice.

At this year’s Higher Education Policy Institute
(HEPI) Annual Conference, James Purnell
gave his first public speech since becoming
President and Vice-Chancellor. James
spoke about the need for the HE sector to
change and that the pandemic has shown
technology is going to transform tertiary
education. He also announced our new
online and low residency degrees.

Our international academic partnerships
continue to flourish. A new agreement
between CCW and Nanyang Academy of
Fine Arts (NAFA), Singapore will introduce
new art and design degrees at NAFA. CCW
also launched a dual MA Global Collaborative
Design Practice, taught at Camberwell
and Kyoto Institute of Technology. As part
of Shared Campus, students were able to
apply for five international Summer Schools,
including the second year of ‘Hacking Global
Pop Icons’ hosted online by UAL.
We contributed to a public events
programme hosted online by Museum of Art,
Architecture and Technology (maat) Lisbon,
with a symposium from the Living Systems
Lab at CSM and a talk on the application
of AI in art and design from UAL Creative
Computing Institute, streamed live on maat’s
Youtube channel. And in the second year
of our collaboration with OCAD University
in 2021, UAL practitioners took part in ‘In
Conversation’, an online series of talks on
design issues, hosted by Toronto’s DesignTO
and targeted at the design community in the
UK and Canada.
UAL’s partnership with Bilbao, our first
Creative City partnership, has become
a flagship of UAL in Europe. It includes
education initiatives in fashion law and
fashion-tech, research opportunities with

Education policy remains in flux as we
emerge from Covid and Brexit, presenting
significant risks to creative education. The
Government has already removed much of
the top-up funding given to institutions which
offer creative and other high-cost subjects.
It has also removed London Weighting in
order to deliver the Levelling Up agenda.
In our response to the Office for Students,
we argued for a stable, long-term national
funding strategy which enables institutions
to plan, protect quality and deliver for the
creative industries.

Camberwell College of Arts launched a
British National Art Network for British South
Asian visual art, in partnership with Tate and
Paul Mellon Centre for Studies in British Art.
MA Designer Maker students took part in
‘Power of Materials: Coffee’, a participatory
installation with Tate Exchange which
explored the ethics of coffee from production
to consumption. Chelsea BA Textile students
produced handcrafted textiles, celebrating
the 150th anniversary of Mahatma Gandhi’s
birth with Khadi London and the High
Commission of India.
The exhibition ‘Behind the Glass’ by
Boys Don’t Cry showcased new work on
male mental health during Mental Health
Awareness Week, inspired by artworks and
stories in the Central Saint Martins Museum &
Study Collection.
Camden community garden MAKE @Story
Garden has evolved out of Central Saint
Martins to become led by our partners at
the Somers Town Community Association/
The Living Centre. Central Saint Martins will
continue to maintain access to the workshops
and deliver projects that are relevant to local
communities, students and staff.
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Inspirational
environment

Sustainability is at the centre of UAL’s
teaching, research, knowledge exchange
and operations. It is one of our core values
as a community. Reflecting the urgency of
our climate emergency, we made our biggest
commitment yet to a sustainable UAL. Under
our comprehensive zero carbon plan, UAL
will achieve net zero by 2030 on our direct
(scope 1 and 2) emissions and net zero by
2040 for our indirect (scope 3) emissions.
This is 10 years ahead of the government’s
deadline. These commitments build on our
track record of carbon reduction since 2012.
They support our fight against the climate
crisis as we prepare to share UAL’s voice at
COP-26 in October 2021. We are joined in
our effort against climate change by the UAL
Climate Emergency Network, which won a
2021 Webby Award for a film educating the
student body about the climate crisis which
was created by staff and students.
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Accommodation Services were awarded
the Innovation in Student Experience prize
for their engaging social programme at the
2020 College & University Business Officers
Awards. The recognises a volunteering
and community building project which
encouraged collaboration between
local communities, staff and students.
Accommodation Services enhanced their
support for students moving into Halls
during Covid, working closely with student
focus groups, housing partners, UAL
Caterers’ BaxterStorey, Student Services
and the Health and Safety department to put
additional measures in place in all 12 halls
before the autumn arrivals.
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Reflecting the growth and value of our digital
estate, we have prioritised digital accessibility
through an audit of our digital platforms
and social media accounts, accessible
documents staff training and the very popular
Recite Me accessibility and translation tool
on UAL’s website. In February, we ran Tech
For All, a free, five-day online UAL conference
about digital accessibility and assistive
technology. As well as practical sessions, it

explored how to make the digital environment
more inclusive with a session on Creativity,
Technology and Social Good via the Creative
Computing Institute.
Tech and digital improvement projects have
included the rollout of Fonteva to manage
UAL and college events. And our Digital
Collections platform launched in July 2021.
The new site allows online browsing of digital
objects across UAL archives, museums and
libraries, as valuable resources for teaching,
learning and engagement.
Investment in our estate remains a strategic
priority. Despite pandemic disruption, the
new London College of Fashion building at
the Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park is taking
shape, with the topping out ceremony held in
September 2021. We have also refurbished
existing buildings at High Holborn and at
London College of Communication to make
them more accessible and suited to new
ways of working, teaching and learning.
In August 2020, a full design team were
appointed for the fit out design of UAL’s
new building for London College of Communication and core university services.
In June 2021, the Court of Appeal upheld
Southwark Council’s decision to grant planning permission for the wider Elephant and
Castle redevelopment.
Works continued on our Wimbledon site
development. In Summer 2021, work was
completed on refurbishment of the theatre
and adjacent empty studios. This included
adding new house lighting to the theatre, a
changing room facility and a wheelchair-accessible shower, toilet and changing room.
In July, planning permission was granted
for a new hall of residence next to Peckham Square – a site formerly known as
Eagle Wharf. The hall, which will have 393
bedrooms, is second in the portfolio to be
owned by the University.
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Pride in our people

Individual and collective
prizes and awards

Phyllida Barlow (Chelsea ) was awarded a
Damehood in the 2021 Birthday Honours for
services to art.
UAL PhD alumnus Samson Kambalu
(Chelsea) won the Fourth Plinth Commission
at Trafalgar Square with ‘Antelope’, to be
unveiled in 2022. CSM graduate Goshka
Macuga was also shortlisted.
Remi Weekes (London College of
Communication alumnus) won a BAFTA
for Outstanding Debut by a British Writer,
Director or Producer for his feature film
debut, ‘His House’. Remi’s film also won
four British Independent Film Awards and
was nominated for three BAFTAs.
UAL graduates won first and second
place in the Taylor Wessing Photographic
Portrait Prize 2020. First prize went to Alys
Tomlinson (Central Saint Martins), and
second to Lydia Goldblatt (London College
of Communication).
Senior Teaching Scholar Dr Mark Ingham
of London College of Communication was
named a National Teaching Fellow. The
fellowship is for an outstanding impact
on student outcomes and the teaching
profession. Mark was one of just 55
teaching professionals across the UK to
receive the award in 2021.
Bethany Williams (London College of
Fashion alumna) won the BFC/Vogue
Designer Fashion Fund 2021. Bethany
will receive mentoring and a cash prize
of £200,000 to grow her business,
which addresses fashion’s relationship to
sustainability and social good.
London College of Fashion student
Kae Katz won the Mayor Entrepreneur
Prize 2021, with her Fibre Lab concept
triumphing over 508 other candidates. Fibre
Lab was originally brought to life through
London College of Fashion’s Collaborative
Challenge, which allows PG students to
collaborate across disciplines.

A period-care invention developed by
alumna Ewa Radziwon (London College
of Fashion) was recognised in TIME’s list of
100 Best Inventions of 2020. The Tampliner
was invented by Dr Alex Hooi, a senior
British gynaecologist, and developed by
garment technologist Ewa.
A debut film, Saint Maud, by Rose Glass
(London College of Communication alumna)
was named one of the best movies of
2020 by many reviewers, including The
Guardian’s Andrew Pulver who ranked it at
number 7 out of the year’s 50 best films.
London College of Communication student
Ishavishali Chandrakumar won the
inaugural Royal Television Society Futures
48 film challenge, which invited aspiring
filmmakers to create, shoot and edit a
three-minute short in 48 hours. Ishavishali’s
film was a poignant exploration of selfhood
and generational trauma.
London College of Fashion student Adela
Babinská won the Judges Award at the
British Fashion Council x British Library
Research Competition 2021. Entrants were
tasked with developing a collection based
on research done at the British Library –
Adela did all her research online during
lockdown.
Mariana Leal (London College of
Communication alumna) won the public
vote at the Global Design Graduate Show.
Her winning stop-motion film ‘The Anatomy
of a Mountain’ explores poignant themes of
ageing and depression.
Kim Gehrig (Central Saint Martins alumna)
won the 2021 D&AD President’s Award for
her outstanding contribution to creativity.
The Australian-born director is known for
her ‘This Girl Can’ campaign for Sport
England and John Lewis’ Christmas ‘Man
on the Moon’ advert.

Hannah Westall (London College of
Communication alumna) was the 2020 winner
of the Sir Peter Ustinov Television Scriptwriting
Award. Her script, Mind the Gap, explores
the tragic death of a young couple and the
resulting tension between their communities.
Sofia Pereira Azevedo (London College of
Fashion alumna) won the Swarovski Innovator
Award 2020 for her final jewellery collection
‘Fabulae’. Swarovski Innovator 2020 is a
collaborative project between Swarovski and
London College of Fashion’s Fashion Jewellery
Year 3 students.
Central Saint Martins alumni Campbell Addy,
Emma Chopova, Laura Lowena, Harris Reed
and Alvas Skog were named as ‘cultural
movers and shakers’ in Forbes magazine’s 30
under 30 list for Art and Culture.
Rebecca Morter (London College of Fashion
alumna) won Retail Futures 2020 at the
Fashion Innovation and Awards Networking
Event. Rebecca is the founder of Lone Design
Club, which hosts pop-up stores all over
London.
Sofia Rivolta (London College of
Communication alumna) was among the
winners of the Young Director Award at
Cannes Lions Festival 2020. Her short film,
Learning from the Wind, was recognised with
a Silver Screen Europe Award.
Hidhir Badaruddin (London College of
Fashion alumnus) won the Getty Images’
Creative Bursary grant for his ongoing photo
series entitled ‘Younglawa’. The $10,000 grant
was awarded to Hidihr out of 250 applicants.
Joao Maraschin (London College of Fashion
alumnus) won the Graduate Award at Drapers
Sustainable Fashion Awards. The prize
acknowledges Joao’s work to reduce the
fashion industry’s impact on the environment.
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review

The University has had
another successful year,
and moves forward with a
strong base to underpin its
new strategy.

Overall Result

The University has had another successful
year, and moves forward with a strong
base to underpin its new strategy. Despite
the challenging environment, income of
£344.8 million (2020: £335.5 million) and a
contribution of £10.5 million (2020 restated:
£4.4 million) has been generated to fund
future investments. This equates to 3.0%
(2020 restated: 1.3%) of total income.
This contribution is required to fund the
University’s capital commitments to projects
for London College of Fashion and London
College of Communication and to invest in
strategic priorities over the coming years.
The University has identified a prior year
adjustment in relation to an interest swap
on a loan facility that is not yet drawn down.
The impact on the contribution for the year
is a gain of £3.0 million (2020: a loss of
£3.9 million). For further detail see note 30.
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Even in a difficult year of continual change
and uncertainty, the University continues to
receive high application levels and strong
place acceptance rates for Home and
International students. Whilst there is always
uncertainty around global student mobility
and the demand for higher education in the
UK, we are confident that we are developing
products and markets to ensure UAL’s
continued success. The University has
robust financial modelling in place, and this
has enabled us to embed an element of
flexibility in our financial plans which allows
us to respond to the complex external
environment. We are confident that given the
global reach of the University (retaining our
place at second in the QS World Rankings),

the broad appeal of the creative course
offer, the continued focus on quality, and the
opportunities to build income streams in the
digital world to support education throughout
life, the financial future of the University
remains stable.
These factors not only contribute significantly
to our strong financial result for 2020/21,
but also position us well as we identify our
ambitions and begin to focus on the next
10-year strategy. As in previous years,
the University’s financial performance in
2020/21 was underpinned by our strong
student recruitment in both domestic and
international markets. Fees from students
outside the EU increased to £166.1 million
(2020: £153.1 million) and international
students from outside the EU comprise 38%
of all students and help create a powerfully
diverse community.
Income from our student accommodation
has reduced year-on-year as a result of
two factors. Firstly students were given the
option of either a seven- or nine-week rent
waiver during the spring term and were
given the option to be released from their
accommodation contracts altogether, if
they chose not to return to halls. Secondly
we have not had any summer business
in our halls at either the start or the end
of the financial year. Our other income
also suffered generally as a result of lower
student numbers on short courses, reduced
catering activities and lower income from
our enterprise activities, all of which can be
attributed to the pandemic.

and office space and to refresh the digital
estate to enable staff and students to work in
a dynamic way.
This year saw the first year of trading for UAL
ArtsTemps Limited. The company provides
recruitment agency services to businesses in
both the creative industries and non-creative
sectors. Its aim is to offer employment
opportunities to students and graduates of
UAL that expands knowledge and skills to
enhance their career prospects. Activities
that were being carried out by the University
are now carried out by the subsidiary
company.

Bursaries and scholarships

offer to students in hardship. This included
additional funds for maintenance and living
costs and the Equipment Fund, which
provided funds for IT equipment and
materials. Additional funding of £812,469
was provided by the UK government
through the Office for Students.
We aim to ensure that students from less
well-off backgrounds are not deterred
from applying. We have been successful in
widening participation and are determined
to ensure that the fee level does not impede
further success. Further information on the
performance against the University’s Access
and Participation Plan is given in note 8b.

It is vital that the University remains open
to talented students regardless of their
background or financial means. To support
students with higher fees and those in
hardship, the University offered a package
of scholarships, bursaries and other support
with spend totalling over £5.0 million (2020:
£3.7 million) this year. In response to the
pandemic, the University expanded its

Expenditure

Total expenditure has increased by £9.0
million to £336.3 million. The resource
allocation process for 2020/21 prioritised
the funding of teaching and student support
activities. During 2021/22 the University
has reviewed its approach to resource
allocation and has developed a model
going forward that ensures teaching is
appropriately funded and budgets are linked
to the strategic priorities of the University.
Other operating expenses have increased by
8.4% to £117.9 million. There were increased
costs to facilitate blended learning, social
distancing and to ensure our buildings are
safe to operate. The University has been able
to continue its building maintenance and
refurbishment work during lockdown, and
the closure of some of our buildings because
of successive lockdowns has enabled us to
bring forward some of these planned works.
Work has been completed to adapt teaching
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Where UAL’s money comes from
International Fees

Home/EU Fees

Where the money goes

48%

36%

Teaching and Research

Buildings, Halls,
Catering and Retail

Running the colleges

Other

8%
Central costs
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Grants
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External Contracts

6%
2%

External contracts,
interest and depreciation

47%

22%
18%
9%
4%

How costs split between
staff and other costs

63%
Staff costs

Staff costs
by area

84%

37%
Non-staff costs

Teaching related

10%
Central costs

6%
Other

Non-staff costs
by area

60%

35%
Teaching
related

Premises,
residences,
other
Central
costs

5%

Non-staff costs by category
Student Services
2%
Cross university services
5%
General Education
6%
Depreciation and Interest
7%
Repairs and Maintenance
11%

Halls, Catering, Retail
and External Contracts
22%

Premises
20%

Academic Services
13%
Teaching departments
14%
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Staff costs by category

82%

18%

College-based staff:
Teaching			£66m
Technical			£19m
Research			£8m
Administration		
£20m
Short courses and other
£61m

Cross-University staff

Total Income

Total Expenditure
(includes other gains/losses)

Operating Contribution

£344.8m - £334.3m = £10.5m

Why does the university make an operating surplus?
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To ensure UAL’s a
 ctivities
remain financially sustainable
in the long term
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To ensure UAL can replace
and refurbish its buildings
and equipment

To guard against events
that might damage UAL’s
financial health

To invest in the facilities
we need to deliver the
academic strategy

Balance sheet

The University’s balance sheet has
strengthened with net assets totalling
£276.9 million (2020 restated: £252.5 million)
despite a large increase in pension liability
of £15.9 million which is discussed in more
detail below. Year on year cash balances
have reduced by £7.5 million as a result of
the ongoing capital programme, but overall
remain healthy at £222.1 million (2020:
£229.6 million). The University’s cash
resources will be used in the coming years
to pay for the capital programme. Student
debtor levels continue to be well controlled
notwithstanding the increase in income and
the uncertain social, economic and political
climate.

Pensions

The University’s employees primarily
belong to two pension schemes; the Local
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) and
the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS). A small
number of employees are members of the
Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS).
The LGPS is a funded defined benefit
scheme with assets held in separate trustee
administered funds. The actuary’s report,
prepared in accordance with accounting
standards, calculates a funding shortfall
of £302.1 million at 31 July 2021 which
compares to £285.7 million at 31 July 2020.
Bond yields remain low and although asset
values have slightly recovered they are still
depressed by the market conditions around
the year end.
TPS is an unfunded defined benefit scheme
and USS is a funded defined benefit scheme
where contributions are made on a pay-asyou-go basis. They are largely exempt from
the requirement of FRS 102 to incorporate
the financial position of the scheme within the
year-end financial statements.

Liquidity and treasury
management

The University’s cash and short-term
deposit balances have slightly decreased
to £228.1 million (2020: £234.6 million) as a
result of planned milestones in the capital
programme for LCF being delivered and the
new hall of Residence at Peckham nearing
completion. The majority of the remaining
cash balances have been ring-fenced for
the completion of the capital programme
over the next five years. At 31 July 2021 UAL
had outstanding long-term debt financing
of £77.2 million (2020: £81.9 million) which
has been used to finance our historic capital
programme, namely the Millbank and Kings
Cross sites. The loan is repayable in equal
instalments over 25 years. UAL’s gearing ratio
(external borrowing to income) is well within
the University’s target range and the wider
financing implications are considered as
part of the appraisal of all new projects. The
University has in place two undrawn facilities
for £40 million and £80 million to fund the
LCF and LCC developments respectively. The
University has in place a number of financial
instruments to manage its exposure to
interest rate fluctuations.
A policy is in place for the investment of shortterm funds which has been endorsed by the
Finance Committee. The University’s funds
are held in short-term deposits in such a way
as to optimise returns to the University while
protecting the capital sum and ensuring that
liquid funds are available to meet operating
cash outflows and capital expenditure as they
fall due.

Summary

Strong financial planning and an agile
decision-making structure has enabled UAL
to continue to adapt quickly and respond to
the challenges in the changing environment
over the last year. Robust resource allocation
and effective revenue protection has enabled
UAL to generate a contribution to the future
capital programme of £10.5 million (2020
restated: £4.4 million ) for the year ended
31 July 2021. This puts UAL in a good
financial position to respond to the challenges
of the future.
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Key risks affecting
the University:

The wide reaching impact of the current
pandemic has resulted in a substantial
increase in the overall risk profile of the
University. Over the last 12 months a number
of significant risks affecting the University
have crystallised and their impact continues
to be felt. There are currently five high risks
which pose an immediate threat to the
operation of UAL and whose impact could
be significant. We have provided a brief
summary of the high risks below.
Duty of care and support to students
– The risks to the well-being of our student
population continue to be high as factors
linked to the pandemic and the external
environment has the potential to cause
severe damage to the UAL community. The
University has been strongly promoting
vaccinations within our student population,
and continue to make lateral flow testing
kits available at all our sites. The incident
management group meets weekly to analyse
report and trace data for any trends or
clusters. Ongoing regular communications in
relation to COVID are in place with FAQ’s and
clear information for students. Well-being
pages are regularly updated to support the
broad challenges that our students have to
navigate.
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Student satisfaction – Meeting and
exceeding the expectations of students
continues to be a key focus for the University
and the student experience is at the centre
of both the University’s strategy and our
response to the challenges of the last year.
Factors affecting this risk include; below
target NSS scores, student retention,
progression and attainment differentials and
ensuring fair access and participation. Whilst
the academic strategy and the academic
enhancement model are still in operation to
address these issues, factors such as the
rapid move to online delivery and blended
delivery in-year had a particular impact on
our pedagogy. Alternative formats for degree
shows and graduation ceremonies also had
an impact on overall student satisfaction.
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People issues – The significant factors
affecting this risk have all been present
for the last 12 months and many continue
to impact this risk into 2021/22. Dynamic
working practises have started to embed,
but the University still has some work to
complete to ensure a successful outcome.
Remote working the return to site, impact
of technology and new policies continue to
have the potential to seriously disrupt UAL
and impact its ability to maintain high calibre
academic, technical and professional staff
whilst also diversifying our workforce.
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UAL aims to ensure staff are valued equally,
paid fairly and treated with respect and to
sit alongside the new UAL strategy, we are
developing a People Strategy to address
these specific areas. To mitigate the risks in
this area the University has:
— made progress on pay, including gender
pay gaps,
— pledged that within three years, 30%
of our workforce will be people of
colour. This will apply to our workforce
overall and to every college and
department,
— employed more academics to reduce
workload
— been accredited as a London Living
Wage employer.

Capital Programme – Uncertainty and
therefore risk in the capital programme is
still higher than we would naturally choose.
The impact of Covid-19 has largely been
mitigated, however, there remains significant
risk due to the size and complexity of the
programme and our dependence on key
partners to deliver. Notable factors affecting
the two major campus projects for LCF and
LCC include:
—T
 ender inflation,
—A
 dditional fit out costs as a result of
extending the delivery timescale,
—D
 elayed site completion and subsequent
college moves,
—A
 dditional costs of keeping legacy sites
operational,
—D
 evelopment Agreement not yet signed
by all parties for LCC.

Cyber Security – over the last 12 months
the sector has seen a significant increase
in cyber risks. The most common is a
ransomware attack resulting in university
data being encrypted and key services
unavailable. Were this risk to crystallise, it
is likely that it would take 3–6 months to
recover fully, and this would seriously impact
all University activities during that time.
To address this risk, multifactor
authentication has been introduced on
key staff and student systems and this
security is being rolled out to further systems
over the coming nine months to support
the development of dynamic working.
Additional work is in progress to identify
issues with network account lifecycle and
user access. A cyber security programme
has been established to encompass all
related initiatives including Cyber Essentials
accreditation and staff cyber security
training. Cyber insurance options are
currently being investigated.

Five-Year summary of performance
2021
2020
2019
2018
2017
		
restated		

Total income (£m)
Surplus generated before exceptional items (£m)

344.8

335.5

321.6

308.9

281.4

10.5

4.4

11.5

22.4

17.4

Cash balances (£m)

222.1

229.7

172.3

106.6

67.4

Net Assets (£m)

276.9

252.5

348.0

343.1

285.6

Key performance indicators
2021
2020
2019
2018
2017
		restated			

Ratio of surplus (before exceptional items) to total income (%)
Ratio of staff costs to total income (%)

3.0

1.3

3.6

3.6

6.2

61

63

58

55

56

Days ratio of net liquid assets to total expenditure

244

259

205

137

94

Gearing ratio (%)

22.0

24

27

30

34
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Public
benefit
University of the Arts London is an
exempt Charity under the terms of
the Charities Act 2011.
In setting and reviewing the University’s
objectives and activities, the Court of
Governors has due regard to the Charity
Commission’s guidance on the reporting
of public benefit and particularly to its
supplementary guidance on the advancement
of education. This statement has been
included in response to the formal reporting
requirement overseen by the Office for
Students (OfS) as the principal regulator
of higher education institutions in England
under the Charities Act 2011.
The overall aim of University of the Arts
London, as set out in the Education
Reform Act 1988, is:
— to provide higher education,
— to provide further education,
— to carry out research and to publish
the results of the research or any other
material arising out of or connected with it
in such manner as the University sees fit.
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In implementing its aims and objectives,
the University is guided by the vision, values
and priorities set out in its 2015 – 22 strategy.
The University’s core activities deliver
substantial public benefit and to support
this assertion the University aims to be
transparent and accountable in the way that
it manages any public funding it receives.
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The University continuously works to provide
public benefit. Initiatives taken during the
year include:
— The provision of significant bursaries,
scholarships and fee waivers to widen
participation on our courses
— Engagement with the community through
a diverse schedule of events throughout
the year, from summer degree shows to
seminars and workshops
— Progression partnership agreements
designed to promote the progression of
students from further education institutions
to higher education courses at the
university
— Projects in partnership with local
authorities, government departments and
agencies, neighbourhood groups, local
businesses and residents to ensure that
we engage with the wider community in
a way which is sensitive to the area’s
people and urban landscape
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Governance
review

Governors

The members of the University’s Court
of Governors are listed on page 3.

Creditor payment policy

It is the University’s policy to pay creditors
in accordance with its statutory obligations
or when they fall due for payment under the
terms of a prevailing contract. The majority
of suppliers’ invoices for goods and services
that comply with all relevant terms and
conditions are paid within 30 days from the
invoice date, unless other payment terms
have been agreed.

Staff and student involvement

The University places considerable value
on the involvement of its staff and students
and on good communication with them.
The University provides updates to all staff
at regular intervals during the year, providing
information on the University’s progress,
performance and successes. The University
recognises three trade unions and there
is a formal structure for communication,
consultation and negotiation with their
elected representatives. Funds are set aside
each year for staff development, ensuring
that technical, management and professional
training is available to all levels of staff.
Social justice, diversity, and international
reach are part of the University’s core values,
behaviours and goals as embodied in our
UAL Strategy 2015 – 22.
Here we demonstrate how we are
committed to creating a diverse and inclusive
learning and working environment for all our
students and staff. The Strategy is aligned
with our Equal Opportunities Policy, our
Public Sector Equality Duty objectives and
the regulatory requirements set by the OfS
and Ofsted.
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Equality, Diversity and
Inclusion
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The University is committed to creating an
inclusive environment where students and
staff feel able to be themselves and reach
their full potential. This ethos extends to the
creative and community partners with whom
we engage, and we hold both ourselves

and our partners accountable for ensuring
inclusivity is at the core of the University’s
agenda.
Our UAL Equality Diversity and Inclusion
Strategy sets out our commitment to
promote equality, diversity and inclusion
on grounds of age, disability, marriage and
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity,
race, religion/belief (or no belief), sex, sexual
orientation, gender identity and caring
responsibilities. We also have a number of
policies that have been designed to protect
our staff and students from discrimination,
harassment and victimisation, including our
Dignity at Work Policy, Sexual Orientation
Policy, Trans Equality Policy, and Antibullying and Anti-Harassment Policy.
Our EDI Strategy has been designed to fulfil
our Public Sector Equality Duty through
key objectives and is realised through an
Operational Plan that has tangible actions
with clear timescales and accountability.
The implementation of the strategy is the
responsibility of everyone at UAL, from the
Court of Governors to College-based teams.
Following the events surrounding the Black
Lives Matter movement and the emerging
impact of Covid-19, the University has
developed andis implementing an AntiRacism Strategy which will enable us to
tackle race inequality and create a more
inclusive institution. We have also developed
comprehensive local action plans for
achieving a 30% BAME workforce within
three years.
The Diversity Team supports departments
across UAL to carry out reviews of policies
and services. We do this to identify ways of
improving the student and staff experience,
and ensure UAL promotes equality, in line
with the Equality Act 2010.

Gender pay gap

We take equal pay very seriously at UAL
and our gender pay gap, at 8.3% in favour
of men, is smaller than the national average,
especially in academic and research
positions. The latest data available, shows

that there is a gender pay gap favouring
women for Deans and Professors and most
academic grades but at Directors, Deputy
Director level, some technical roles and in
jobs at lower grades, there is a gender pay
gap favouring men. We recognise there is still
work to do.

Health and safety

The University aspires to achieve a positive
health and safety culture. This requires
commitment and active co-operation by staff
and students alike, supported by sufficient
resources, training and guidance. Our Safety,
Health and Wellbeing Policy sets out the
University’s commitment to providing a safe
and healthy working environment through:
— the use of materials, equipment and
machinery that are safe and do not present
unacceptable risks to health;
— information, instruction, training and
supervision as necessary to ensure all staff
and students can work safely;
— the development of safe systems of work,
reflecting best practice, so that staff and
students expect good health and safety
practices as a matter of course.
The University believes consideration of
health and safety is essential in the proper
execution of management responsibilities.
It therefore ensures all managers have the
necessary competencies and skills to achieve
this. Health and safety is an integral part of
planning within the University at all levels.
The Covid-19 pandemic and the University’s
response to this has served to strengthen
the commitment to health and safety in
everything that we do.

Disclosure of information
to auditors

The governors in office at the date of approval
of this report confirm that, so far as they
are each aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the University’s auditors
are unaware; and each governor has taken
all the steps that they ought to have taken as
a governor to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish
that the University’s auditors are aware of
that information.

Internal and external auditors

A full market testing of internal and external
audit providers is carried out periodically in
line with the conditions of funding of the OfS
and the University’s financial procedures.
KPMG LLP were reappointed by the Court
of Governors as the University’s external
auditors for the year ended 31 July 2021
following the last market testing exercise
during 2015 – 16. PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP were reappointed by the Court of
Governors as the University’s internal auditors
for the year ended 31 July 2021 following the
last market testing exercise during 2019 – 20.

Conclusion

The University remains strong both
academically and financially, despite the
most extraordinary year in its history. This
has been achieved through the tireless
efforts of its staff. We pass on the thanks
of the Court of Governors to the staff for all
they have done to ensure students continue
to learn and to excel.

James Purnell
President and Vice-Chancellor
November 2021

David Isaac CBE
Chair of the Court of Governors
November 2021
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Sustainability
strategy and
energy usage

The University aims to create a culture
of environmental stewardship in order to
develop and integrate sustainable and ethical
practice throughout all aspects of our life
and work. Art, design and communication
education can play a vital role in the
development of a more sustainable future.
UAL works to the Streamlined Energy and
Carbon Reporting (SECR) framework and our
total carbon emissions for August 20 – July
21 were 5,705 tonnes, which is down on the
previous year.
The University monitors utilities consumption
and sets annual reduction targets, we have
an Energy Management System which is
ISO50001 accredited, and our consumption
data and energy efficiency actions are
independently audited. Consumption data
is supplied by our utility suppliers and this
is verified across all sites through meter
readings.
UAL maximises the positive environmental,
social and economic impacts that result
from these activities and operates within
an ethical and responsible framework,
which is reflected in the UAL Environmental
Management System ISO14001 and the
Energy Management System ISO50001, the
University’s Ethical Investment Policy and
Principles for Responsible Investment (which
is supported by the United Nations), and the
UAL Carbon Management Plan.

Streamlined Energy and
Carbon Reporting (SECR)

The information opposite is provided to meet
the Government’s Streamlined Energy and
Carbon Reporting (SECR) requirements.
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Method to satisfy the
requirements of the
Streamlined Energy & Carbon
Reporting Framework
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The University monitors utility consumption
and sets annual reduction targets.
The University has created an Energy
Management System (EnMS) which is

accredited to the International Standard,
ISO50001. The consumption data and
energy efficiency actions (detailed below) is
independently audited. This ensures that the
consumption data (shown in Table 1) and the
method used to calculate it is quantitative,
accurate, complete, consistent, comparable
and transparent. The scope of the EnMS
includes all academic sites and the three halls
of residence for which UAL manages the
utilities contracts.
Consumption data is provided by utility
suppliers but verified by hourly, daily or
weekly meter readings at all sites. The annual
consumption of gas, electricity and fuel oil
expressed as kilowatt hours, is converted into
tonnes of carbon using the latest Government
guidance regarding emission conversion
factors for greenhouse gas company
reporting.

Energy Efficiency Actions

UAL has announced a target for the
emissions we control directly (our scope 1
& 2 emissions), to reach net zero no later
than 2030, with an ambition to reach a 92%
reduction by 2030. In 2030 the university will
consider approaches to carbon offsetting that
are consistent with an institution committed to
promoting climate justice across the world.
UAL aims to reduce its kWh consumption year
on year. To aid this UAL monitors its energy
performance through its ISO 50001 energy
management system. Monthly targets are set
for each of UAL’s 16 sites. Any consumption
higher than the target is investigated and a
resolution found to bring consumption back
to expected levels. This is conducted each
month and the system, as part of ISO 50001,
is externally audited each year. ISO 50001
continues to ‘anchor in’ existing savings in
utility consumption as the university seeks to
secure reaccreditation to the standard every
year. It is the responsibility of the Associate
Director for Sustainable Operations to
ensure that information is shared across the
organisation. Building Managers, FM providers
and catering providers use and react to

the energy consumption they are provided
with. Costs associated with ISO 50001 are
deemed revenue expenditure and therefore
an extremely cost-effective tool in generating
carbon savings. The Carbon Management
Plan v10 was updated in June 2021 and
details energy projects planned, including
saving 324 tonnes of carbon from energy
management projects.
The full document is available on the
University’s website but this work includes:
– Carrying out detailed surveys of all
sites twice a year to identify savings
opportunities, including matching the
occupancy of buildings to demand –
matching the heating, cooling and lighting
schedules to the buildings occupancy.
– The Building Management System(s) will
be recommissioned and Heating Ventilation
and Cooling (HVAC) equipment will be
aligned exactly with the timetables of our
buildings. Lighting systems will also be
recommissioned and control sensors will be
adjusted to only operate in core business
hours and reflect the teaching timetable.
– Works classified as ‘Pre Planned
Maintenance’ are funded in the order of
£1.9 million per year and include a variety of
projects including reactive repairs, servicing
of mechanical and electrical systems and
replacing equipment that had reached
the end of its useful life. Energy efficiency
is included as part of these interventions
as per the UAL MEP Building Particulars
Document and the UAL Washroom Design
Guide (both are available on the university’s
website).

Energy data and carbon emissions
Aug 20 – July 21
Emission Source

Energy Use (kWh)

Conversion Factor (kgCO2e)

Carbon Emissions (tCO2e)

Scope 1: Gas consumption

14,207,109

0.18316

2,602

Scope 1: Fuel Oil consumption

1,114,860

0.26815

299

Scope 1: Total

15,321,969

–

2,901

Scope 2: Electricity consumption

13,204,139

0.21233

2,804

Scope 2: Total

13,204,139

–

2,804

Scope 1 & 2: Total

28,526,108

–

5,705

Intensity Ratio
(tCO2e per Gross Internal Area m2)

0.031

Aug 19 – July 20
Emission Source

Energy Use (kWh)

Conversion Factor (kgCO2e)

Carbon Emissions (tCO2e)

Scope 1: Gas consumption

14,523,653

0.18387

2,670

Scope 1: Fuel Oil consumption

1,216,428

0.26775

326

Scope 1: Total

15,740,081

–

2,996

Scope 2: Electricity consumption

13,237,066

0.23314

3,086

Scope 2: Total

13,237,066

–

3,086

Scope 1 & 2: Total

28,977,147

–

6,082

Intensity Ratio
(tCO2e per Gross Internal Area m2)

0.033

Aug 18 – July 19
Emission Source

Energy Use (kWh)

Conversion Factor (kgCO2e)

Carbon Emissions (tCO2e)

Scope 1: Gas consumption

15,359,716

0.18385

2,824

Scope 1: Fuel Oil consumption

1,251,840

0.26782

335

Scope 1: Total

16,611,556

–

3,159

Scope 2: Electricity consumption

16,474,523

0.25560

4,211

Scope 2: Total

16,474,523

–

4,211

Scope 1 & 2: Total

33,086,079

–

7,370

Intensity Ratio
(tCO2e per Gross Internal Area m2)

0.040
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The University is a higher education
corporation established under Section 121
of the Education Reform Act 1988 and an
exempt charity under charity legislation. Its
governing document is the Instrument and
Articles of Government which were approved
by Orders of the Privy Council.

responsible for ensuring that UAL complies
with the OfS’ ongoing conditions of
registration and receives monitoring reports
on these matters. UAL also has an OfS
Monitoring Group which meets on a termly
basis and consists of senior managers with
responsibility for relevant compliance areas.

The University is committed to applying
best practice in all aspects of corporate
governance. This summary describes the
manner in which the University follows the
principles set out in the Higher Education
Code of Governance (Committee of
University Chairs, 2020). Its purpose is to
help the reader of the accounts understand
how the principles have been applied.

Statement of internal control

In 2018, UAL was successful in its
application to join the Office for Students’
register of English higher education
providers (as an HE provider that was
previously funded by HEFCE). As part of
this application, UAL explained how it met
the conditions of registration, including
how it has in place adequate and effective
management and governance arrangements
to deliver, in practice, the public interest
governance principles set out by the OfS.
These principles include: academic freedom,
accountability, student engagement,
academic governance, risk management,
value for money, freedom of speech;
ensuring that the size and composition of the
governing body is appropriate; and that the
members of the governing body are fit and
proper persons. The OfS was content that
UAL’s governance arrangements complied
with the initial conditions of registration.
The University’s Court of Governors is

The Court of Governors is the University’s
governing body. Members of the Court
of Governors (known as “governors”) are
the University’s trustees. The Court of
Governors is made up principally of external
members from whom its Chair and Deputy
Chair are elected. Also included in its
membership are University staff members
and a nominated sabbatical officer of the
Students’ Union as student governor. No
governors are remunerated for their work on
the Court.
The Court of Governors is responsible for
the University’s system of internal control
and for reviewing its effectiveness. Such
a system is designed to mitigate rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.
The Court of Governors is of the view that
there is an ongoing process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the University’s
significant risks; that this has been in place
for the year ended 31 July 2021 and up to
the date of approval of the annual report
and accounts; that it is regularly reviewed
by the Court and that it accords with the
internal control guidance for directors in

the UK Corporate Governance Code, as
deemed appropriate for higher education.
In line with regulatory guidance, the
University has in place a risk management
strategy and policy which have been
considered and endorsed by senior
management, the University’s internal
auditors, and the Audit Committee (the
governors’ lead body for assessing whether
the University is effectively managing its
risks). In addition, there is a risk management
group which meets termly and is made up
of senior staff from across the University
to ensure that key risks are identified and
contributing factors, mitigating actions and
controls are monitored. There have been no
critical internal audit findings during the year.
Consideration of all types of risks (business,
operational, compliance and financial)
and associated control mechanisms are a
standing item on the agendas of the Audit
Committee and other committees, such
as the Estates Committee and the People
Strategy Committee, where the risks are
relevant to them. The Audit Committee’s role
in this area is to ensure a high-level review
of the arrangements for internal control.
The Court’s agenda includes regular items
for consideration of risk and control and
Court receives reports thereon from senior
management and the Audit Committee. The
emphasis is on obtaining the relevant degree
of assurance and not merely reporting by
exception.
The University ensures regularity and
propriety in the use of public funding via the
systems of internal control set out above.

In addition, systems of internal audit are in
place and reviews are reported to the Audit
Committee on a regular basis, alongside
an annual Research Integrity review. The
Finance Committee considers the report on
Transparent Approach to Costing prior to its
submission to the OfS. Further information
about the governance roles of Court and its
Committees are set out below.
At its meeting on 23 November 2021, the
Court received the results of the annual
assessment carried out by the Audit
Committee for the year ended 31 July 2021.
The Committee considered documentation
from the senior management team, internal
and external audit, and the assessment took
account of events since 31 July 2021.
These conclusions have been reported to our
regulator, the Office for Students.

The Court of Governors

The Court of Governors normally meets five
times per year. It endeavours to conduct its
business in accordance with the principles
of the Nolan Committee on standards in
public life (selflessness; integrity; objectivity;
accountability; openness; honesty; leadership). The Court of Governors has adopted
the Higher Education Code of Governance
2020, noting that the essential components of
each element of this HE Code of Governance
are in place. The Court of Governors ensures
transparency about the University’s corporate
governance functions via publication of key
information as part of the University’s Annual
Report and Financial Statements. In addition,
further details about the Court, its members,
its committees and core policies and pro-

cedures are published on the University’s
website.
The Court is responsible for the determination
of the educational character and mission of
the University and for oversight of its activities,
including the strategic direction of the University; the effective and efficient use of resources; approval of annual estimates of income
and expenditure; ensuring the solvency of the
University and safeguarding of assets; the
setting of a framework for the pay and conditions of staff; and more specifically the appointment and dismissal of the President and
Vice-Chancellor and the Clerk to the Court.
The Court is also responsible for appointing
governors, including the Chair and Deputy
Chair of the governing body. The Court has
established several committees and one
advisory group, details of which are set out
below. All of these Committees are formally
constituted with terms of reference, and the
majority of these committees are comprised
of external members of the Court. The Committees undertake a review of their own terms
of reference and effectiveness on an annual
basis. The Court monitors attendance at governing body and committee meetings. A summary of this is reported below. The governing
document of the University requires the Court
of Governors also to establish an Academic
Board which is comprised of academics,
senior managers, and representatives of staff
and students. There are no external members
on this Board.
In line with CUC guidance, the Court of Governors carries out an effectiveness review of
the way in which it conducts its business on a
regular basis. Such a review was undertaken

by an external independent adviser in 2017.
The review concluded that the University
“continues to have in place a comprehensive
framework and structure of governance conforming to the requirements of the Higher Education Code of Governance and sector best
practice” while also making recommendations
for further strengthening of some governance
processes. The Court discussed the conclusions of the review in March 2018 and agreed
a list of action points at its July 2018 meeting.
A further review of progress made against
actions was undertaken in September 2019.
The next full review is taking place in autumn/
winter 2021 and will report to the Court of
Governors meeting in March 2022.
As well as considering strategy, risk, compliance and regulatory matters, the Court receives regular briefings, in order for governors
to gain a good understanding of university
life. Recent meetings have focused on topics
including: the impact of the pandemic; the
University’s Access and Participation work;
and the implementation of the Action Racism
Action Plan. In 2021 the Court of Governors
held two away day sessions, with a focus on
the development of the next UAL Strategy.

Academic Board

The Academic Board is responsible for the
academic life of the University in relation to
teaching and research. It operates through a
committee structure which also covers the six
constituent colleges of the University. It meets
three times a year.

Chair’s Committee

The Chair’s Committee meets on an ad-hoc
basis to consider matters of complexity or
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urgency for which it has been given prior
delegated authority to act on behalf of the
Court of Governors.

Finance Committee

The Finance Committee, inter alia, recommends to the Court the University’s annual
revenue and capital budgets and monitors
performance in relation to the approved
budgets. The Finance Committee can act for
the Court on specific financial issues where
delegated authority has been given. It meets
three times a year at minimum. The Estates
and Finance Committees have been given
joint delegated responsibility to oversee the
progress of the University’s current capital
programme.

Nominations Committee

arts.ac.uk

The Nominations Committee, which
normally meets three times a year, considers
nominations for vacancies in the Court
membership for external governors in
accordance with the University’s Instrument
and Articles of Government. It has approved
an appointments process, including a role
description for governors and a policy on
reappointments. The Committee advertises
external governor vacancies when they arise,
using the services of online non-executive
recruitment specialists, the Advance HE
portal, as well as UAL’s own recruitment site.
Search agencies have also been used for
particular roles such as the Chair of Court.
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The Committee regularly reviews the
composition of the governing body and
evaluates the specific skills, knowledge,
and experience required to fill potential
vacancies. The Committee also nominates

governors to fill vacancies on Court
committees. In considering the profile of the
governing body and any future recruitment,
the Nominations Committee has regard to
the University’s Equal Opportunities Policy
as set out within the Equality and Diversity
Framework. The Committee seeks to
promote gender balance and ethnic diversity
in its nominations and appointments.
The Committee has an awareness of
the student and staff profile in making its
recommendations.
The Committee considers the potential
reappointment of serving governors, having
given due regard to their performance
and ability to contribute to the Court of
Governors in the light of the knowledge,
skills and experience required within the
governing body overall. In addition, it
considers arrangements for elections to staff
governor vacancies on behalf of the Court
of Governors. The Committee also makes
recommendations to the Court of Governors
on the appointment or reappointment of the
University’s Chancellor.

Further Education Committee
The Further Education Committee meets
three times a year. It monitors and reviews
the University’s FE provision, as well as the
quality assurance and self-assessment
mechanisms. The Committee also reviews
UAL Awarding Body’s performance and
monitors its statements of compliance, on
behalf of the Court of Governors.

People Strategy Committee
The People Strategy Committee is
responsible for advising the Court on

employment and other staffing matters
for which the Court is responsible. The
Committee ensures that the University has
appropriate mechanisms in place to deliver
effective consultation and negotiations with
recognised trade unions. The Committee
monitors the impact of the University’s
People Strategy. As part of this, the
Committee reviews staff development
plans, risks and key performance
indicators. The Committee also considers
the University’s health and safety matters,
equality and diversity matters, and the
Access and Participation Plan, and makes
recommendations thereon to the Court of
Governors. The Committee normally meets
three times a year. In the past two years
the Committee has focused its attention
on student and staff wellbeing (particularly
in light of the pandemic) and on the AntiRacism Action Plan.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee meets twice
a year to consider pay structures and to
determine the remuneration of senior staff,
including the President and Vice-Chancellor.
The Committee also considers severance
matters. Further information about the work
of the Remuneration Committee is set within
the Annual Remuneration Statement on
page 53.

Estates Committee

The Estates Committee is responsible for
advising the Court and the President and
Vice-Chancellor on matters relating to the
University’s property portfolio and estates
operations. The Committee meets three
times a year at minimum. The Estates and

Finance Committees have been given joint
delegated responsibility to oversee the
progress of the University’s current capital
programme.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has four scheduled
meetings a year, with the University’s
external and internal auditors in attendance.
The Committee monitors risk management
arrangements and internal control. It
considers detailed reports together with
recommendations for the improvement
of the University’s systems and control
environment along with management’s
responses and implementation plans. It also
receives and considers reports from the OfS,
and monitors adherence to the regulatory
requirements.
Whilst senior executives attend meetings
of the Audit Committee as necessary, they
are not members of the Committee and
the Committee meets with the internal
and external auditors on their own for
independent discussions. The Committee
reviews its own effectiveness via its annual
report to Court and via the self-assessments
it carries out from time to time. The
Committee monitors the University’s top
risks and mitigating measures via the receipt
of regular reports and presentations. In
November 2020 the Committee considered
and adopted the CUC’s Higher Education
Audit Committees Code of Practice.

Student Experience Advisory
Group

This Group was established in 2019,
following the recommendations which arose

from the governance effectiveness review.
The Group consists of external governors,
staff members and the student governor.
The Group is tasked with monitoring the
implementation of strategies and policies
relating to the student experience. A
particular focus of the Group’s meetings has
been academic enhancement, attainment
differentials, and student mental health and
wellbeing. The operation and remit of this
Group will be considered as part of the 2021
Effectiveness Review.

Conferments Committee

The Conferments Committee is responsible
for considering honorary awards by the
University and for partner colleges when
requested to do so. It meets once or twice
a year.
Committee of Independent Governors
This Committee is the appointing body
for independent governors in certain
circumstances as set out in the Instrument
and Articles of Government.

Search Committee

The panels included staff and student
representation. The Court of Governors
approved the appointment of James Purnell
as the next President and Vice-Chancellor
at a special meeting in October 2020 and he
commenced in this post with effect from 1
April 2021.

Going Concern

After making appropriate enquiries, the Court
of Governors considers that the University
has adequate resources to continue in
operation/existence for the foreseeable future.
Cash flow forecasts have prepared for the
period up to 31 July 2023. After reviewing
these forecasts the Court of Governors is
of the opinion that the Group and parent
University will have sufficient funds to meet
their liabilities as they fall due over the period
of at least 12 months from the date of
approval of the financial statements (the going
concern assessment period). For this reason
they continue to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing the financial statements.
Further information is included in the
statement of principle of accounting policies.

In accordance with the Court’s responsibility
for the appointment of the Vice-Chancellor,
the Court appointed a Search Committee
in February 2020, following Sir Nigel
Carrington’s announcement of his intention
to stand down from the Vice-Chancellor
role. The Search Committee consisted of
nine external governors and was tasked
with overseeing the process of appointing
Sir Nigel’s replacement. The Committee
worked with an external search firm to identify
appropriate candidates. The interviews took
place in September and October 2020.

51

arts.ac.uk

Governors’ attendance records 2020 – 21
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Governor

Court Meetings and Away Days

Committee meetings

Email meetings

David Isaac CBE

7/7

Remuneration Committee: 1/2
Nominations Committee: 2/3

Court: 5/5

Hussein Barma

7/7

Estates Committee: 3/3
Finance Committee: 3/3

Court: 3/3
Estates: 2/2
Finance: 1/1

Sir Nigel Carrington

3/3

Estates Committee: 2/2
Finance Committee: 2/2
People Strategy Committee: 2/2
Conferments Committee: 1/1
Nominations Committee: 2/2

Court: 3/3
Estates:1/1

Es Devlin OBE RDI

2/7

Conferments Committee: 0/1

Court: 2/5

David Fison

7/7

Estates Committee: 3/3
Finance Committee: 3/3

Court: 5/5
Estates: 3/3
Finance: 1/1

Harry Gaskell

7/7

Estates Committee: 2/3
Finance Committee: 2/3
Remuneration Committee 1/1

Court: 5/5
Estates: 3/3
Finance: 1/1

Darla-Jane Gilroy

6/7

FE Committee: 3/3
Nominations Committee: 3/3

Court: 3/5
FE Committee: 2/2

Diane Gowland

6/7

FE Committee: 3/3
Audit Committee: 4/4

Court: 5/5
FE Committee: 2/2

Andrew Hochhauser QC

7/7

Audit Committee: 3/4
People Strategy Committee: 2/3
Nominations Committee: 3/3

Court: 5/5

Kyran Joughin

6/7

Court: 4/5

Vanessa Kingori MBE

1/7

Court: 0/5

Scott Mead

7/7

Audit Committee: 3/4
Conferments Committee: 1/1

Court: 5/5

Louise Moore

7/7

People Strategy Committee: 3/3
Nominations Committee: 3/3
Student Experience Advisory Group: 2/2
Remuneration Committee: 2/2

Court: 5/5

Matthew Phull

7/7

James Purnell

3/3

Nominations Committee: 2/2
People Strategy Committee 1/1
Estates Committee: 1/1
Finance Committee: 1/1

Court: 1/1
Estates: 2/2

Sim Scavazza

6/7

People Strategy Committee: 3/3
Student Experience Advisory Group: 2/2
Remuneration Committee: 2/2
Nominations Committee: 2/2

Court: 3/5

Armani Sutherland

1/1

Ben Terrett RDI

7/7

Nominations Committee: 3/3
Conferments Committee: 1/1
Student Experience Advisory Group: 1/2

Court: 4/5

Sir Eric Thomas

5/7

Finance Committee: 3/3
Estates Committee: 3/3

Court: 3/5
Estates: 2/3
Finance: 1/1

Eleanor West

6/7

Student Experience Advisory Group: 2/2

Court: 1/4

Alison Woodhams

7/7

Audit Committee: 4/4
FE Committee: 1/2

Court: 5/5
FE Committee: 2/2

Court: 2/5

Court: 1/1

Annual
remuneration
statement

Background and Remit

The Remuneration Committee is
responsible for UAL’s policy on staff
remuneration and, in particular, the
remuneration of senior post holders. During
2020–21, the Committee consisted of
four external governors: Sim Scavazza
(Committee Chair), David Isaac CBE
(Chair of Court), Louise Moore and Harry
Gaskell (appointed to the Committee in
November 2020). The Committee meets
twice a year. At its meeting in October
2020, the Committee reflected on its work
over the year and reviewed its annual
report, concluding that UAL’s remuneration
practices achieve the elements of fair
and appropriate remuneration set out in
the CUC’s Higher Education Senior Staff
Remuneration Code.
The Committee terms of reference includes:
— Considering policy frameworks for senior
staff remuneration and severance.
— Considering the Vice Chancellor and
President and Vice-Chancellor’s annual
appraisal and determining the Vice
Chancellor and President and ViceChancellor’s pay and conditions.
— Determining the pay envelope and
salaries of senior post holders.
— Determining the pay envelope for staff on
individual contracts.
— Monitoring the pay award for all other
staff, following agreements at national
level.
— Reviewing severance arrangements.
The Members of the Executive Board are
deemed to be the senior post holders
and, as such, during the 2020-21 period,
this was defined as: the Vice-Chancellor
/ the President and Vice-Chancellor, the
two Deputy Vice-Chancellors, the four Pro
Vice-Chancellors, the Director of Human
Resources, the Chief Financial Officer, the
University Secretary and Registrar, the
Director of Communication and External
Affairs, and the Director of Planning.

Policy for Senior Staff
(Excluding the President
and Vice-Chancellor)

The Remuneration Committee has approved
a Senior Staff Pay Structure which applies
to staff with individual contracts (Deans and
Directors of Services, Professors, Chairs
and a number of other senior academic
and professional/administrative staff) and to
senior post holders, excluding the President
and Vice-Chancellor. The structure was last
reviewed and updated in June 2018, when it
was agreed that it would consist of ten salary
bands, benchmarked against the mean
results of the UCEA senior staff remuneration
survey. The framework ensures that UAL’s
pay is competitive for senior staff, while
exercising control on overall costs.
Each June, the normal process is that
the Remuneration Committee reviews
the approach and cost envelope for
the remuneration of senior post holders
(excluding the Vice Chancellor and President
and Vice-Chancellor) and those on
individual contracts. The following factors
are amongst those normally considered in
determining increases to the cost envelope:
the proposed national pay award and pay
increments due to be received by graded
staff; the level of pay increases in the wider
economy and the rate of inflation; UAL
budget forecasts; the need to demonstrate
reasonable pay restraint; and the need
to maintain appropriate differentials. The
Committee also considers the public
interest and the safeguarding of public funds
alongside the interests of the University.
Following determination of the envelope,
recommendations on individual senior
post holders are normally delegated to the
Committee Chair and the President and
Vice-Chancellor, based on an appraisal
of each individual’s performance. (These
recommendations are then considered and
approved by the Remuneration Committee
at its autumn meeting.)
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Annual remuneration statement
At its meetings in June and October 2020,
the Committee agreed that there would be no
pay increases for senior staff and individual
contract holders, given the circumstances
of the pandemic, the financial pressures
faced by the HE sector, and the UCEA
recommendations on pay freezes for graded
staff in 2020.
At its meeting in June 2021 the Committee
agreed that, for 2021, given the ongoing
financial uncertainties, the pay envelope for
senior staff and individual contract holders
should mirror the UCEA recommendation
for graded staff (1.5%) and that there should
not be any additional performance-related
pay awards or increments for senior staff or
individual contract holders at that point.
Also at its meeting in June 2021, the
Committee considered and endorsed
the remuneration packages for two new
senior postholders, in anticipation of their
appointments autumn 2021. These packages
were informed by benchmarking exercises
which took into consideration the remits of
these new posts in comparison with similar
roles in the sector and within UAL itself.
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Policy for the President
and Vice-Chancellor
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At its meeting each autumn the Remuneration
Committee receives feedback on the
President and Vice-Chancellor’s appraisal
meeting, which is carried out by the Chair
of the Court of Governors. The Committee
then considers the pay review and objectives
for the President and Vice-Chancellor. In
normal years, the Committee considers
any pay increase in light of: a comparison
with pay awards made to all staff across
UAL, including other senior post holders; a
detailed benchmarking exercise, comparing
remuneration across the sector; and the
Committee’s own assessment of the
President and Vice-Chancellor’s performance
during the previous year. The Committee
is also mindful of the University’s strategic
interests, the public interest and the
safeguarding of public funds.

The Committee receives detailed
benchmarking data, to enable it to compare
the President and Vice-Chancellor’s
remuneration to levels set at other institutions.
Comparisons are made against: all other
London universities; a regional peer group;
all UK universities; and the benchmark
institutions as selected by the CUC. The
Committee also considers the pay ratios of
the President and Vice-Chancellor’s basic
salary to: the overall staff median basic salary;
the academic staff median basic salary; the
professorial median basic salary; and the
professional staff median basic salary.
In October 2020, the Remuneration
Committee determined the outgoing ViceChancellor’s remuneration for 2020-21
(for the eight-month period from 1 August
2020 to 31 March 2021). It was agreed that,
given the financial context and the situation
for other staff members, there would
be no increase to the Vice-Chancellor’s
remuneration during this period. At the same
meeting the Committee considered and
approved a finalised remuneration package
and the outline contract details for the
incoming President and Vice-Chancellor, to
take effect from 1 March 2021 (noting that
there was a handover period of one month).
The parameters for this remuneration
package had been approved at the June
2020 meeting.

Additional Information

Further information about the 2020-21 pay
ratios, the President and Vice-Chancellor’s
remuneration, and staff costs in general, are
set out in note 7 to the accounts.
For all staff, the University has in place a
standard contract of employment and the
process for reviewing these is delegated
to the Human Resources department.
The standard UAL contract states that
income from external sources can only
be retained with the permission of the
University (via the line manager). In relation
to the outgoing Vice-Chancellor and to the
incoming President and Vice-Chancellor,
no additional income was received from
external sources during this period. The
University also has in place an Expenses
Policy for all staff, the operation of which is
delegated to the Finance department.
The University has a policy for the payment
of one-off performance-related bonuses:
in certain circumstances bonuses may be
paid to graded staff and staff on individual
contracts; bonus payments are not made
to senior post holders and were not made
to any staff during 2020-21, due to the
financial context.
The President and Vice-Chancellor is not a
member of the Remuneration Committee.
The President and Vice-Chancellor and the
Chief People Officer are invited to attend
committee meetings to provide advice
on certain items, but they are not present
when their own remuneration is under
consideration.

Statement of Court of
Governors’ responsibilities
in respect of the annual
report and the financial
statements
The Court of Governors is responsible
for preparing the Annual Report and the
financial statements in accordance with the
requirements of the Office for Students’
terms and conditions of funding for higher
education institutions and Research
England’s terms and conditions of
Research England grant and applicable
law and regulations.
The Court of Governors is required to
prepare group and parent University
financial statements in accordance with
UK accounting standards and applicable
law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice), including FRS 102 The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK
and Republic of Ireland. The terms and
conditions of funding further require the
financial statements to be prepared in
accordance with the 2019 Statement of
Recommended Practice – Accounting for
Further and Higher Education, in accordance
with the requirements of the Accounts
Direction issued by the Office for Students.
The Court of Governors is required to
prepare financial statements which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the group and parent University and of their
income and expenditure, gains and losses
and changes in reserves for that period.
In preparing each of the group and parent
University financial statements, the Court
of Governors is required to:
— s elect suitable accounting policies and
then apply them consistently;
—m
 ake judgements and estimates that
are reasonable and prudent;
— state whether applicable UK accounting
standards have been followed, subject
to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements;
— assess the group and parent University’s
ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern; and

—u
 se the going concern basis of
accounting unless it either intends
to liquidate the group or the parent
University or to cease operations, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The Court of Governors is responsible
for keeping proper accounts and proper
records in relation to the accounts. They
are responsible for such internal control as
they determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and have general
responsibility for taking such steps as are
reasonably open to them to safeguard the
assets of the group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities.
The Court of Governors is also
responsible for ensuring that:
— funds from whatever source administered
by the Group or the University for specific
purposes have been properly applied
to those purposes and managed in
accordance with relevant legislation;
— funds provided by the Office for Students
and Research England have been
applied in accordance with the terms and
conditions attached to them;
— ensuring that there are appropriate
financial and management controls in
place to safeguard public funds and funds
from other sources; and
— securing the economical, efficient and
effective management of the University’s
resources and expenditure.
The Court of Governors is responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the corporate
and financial information included on the
University’s website. Legislation in the UK
governing the preparation and dissemination
of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Independent auditor’s
report to the Court of
Governors of University
of the Arts London

Report on the audit
of the financial
statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements
of University of the Arts London (“the
University”) for the year ended 31 July 2021
which comprise the Consolidated and
University Statement of Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure, Consolidated
and University Statement of Changes in
Reserves, Consolidated and University
Balance Sheet and Consolidated Cash
Flow and related notes, including the
accounting policies in note 1.
In our opinion the financial statements:
– give a true and fair view of the state of
the Group’s and the University’s affairs as
at 31 July 2021, and of the Group’s and
the University’s income and expenditure,
gains and losses and changes in
reserves, and of the Group’s cash flows,
for the year then ended; and
– have been properly prepared in
accordance with UK accounting
standards, including FRS 102 The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable
in the UK and Republic of Ireland.
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Basis for opinion
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We conducted our audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing
(UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities are described below. We
have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities
under, and are independent of the group in
accordance with, UK ethical requirements
including the FRC Ethical Standard. We
believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is a sufficient and appropriate
basis for our opinion.

Going concern

The Court of Governors has prepared the
financial statements on the going concern
basis as they do not intend to liquidate the
Group or the University or to cease their
operations, and as they have concluded
that the Group and the University’s financial
position means that this is realistic. They
have also concluded that there are no
material uncertainties that could have
cast significant doubt over their ability to
continue as a going concern for at least
a year from the date of approval of the
financial statements (“the going concern
period”).
In our evaluation of the Court of Governors
conclusions, we considered the inherent
risks to the group’s business model and
analysed how those risks might affect the
Group and University’s financial resources
or ability to continue operations over the
going concern period.
Our conclusions based on this work:
– we consider that the Court of Governor’s
use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the
financial statements is appropriate;
– we have not identified, and concur with
the Court of Governor’s assessment that
there is not, a material uncertainty related
to events or conditions that, individually
or collectively, may cast significant doubt
on the Group or the University’s ability to
continue as a going concern for the going
concern period.
However, as we cannot predict all future
events or conditions and as subsequent

events may result in outcomes that are
inconsistent with judgements that were
reasonable at the time they were made, the
above conclusions are not a guarantee that
the Group or the University will continue in
operation.

Fraud and breaches of laws
and regulations – ability to
detect

As required by auditing standards, we
perform procedures to address the risk of
management override of controls and the
risk of fraudulent revenue recognition, in
particular the risk that tuition fee revenue
is recorded in the wrong financial period
and the risk that Group and University
management may be in a position to make
inappropriate accounting entries.

Identifying and responding to risks of
material misstatement due to fraud

We did not identify any additional fraud
risks.

To identify risks of material misstatement
due to fraud (“fraud risks”) we assessed
events or conditions that could indicate an
incentive or pressure to commit fraud or
provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our
risk assessment procedures included:

We performed procedures including:
– Identifying journal entries to test based on
risk criteria and comparing the identified
entries to supporting documentation.
These included those posted to unusual
account combinations and other unusual
journal characteristics.
– For a sample of cash receipts received
and sales invoices raised in the period 1
July 2021 to 31 August 2021, assessing
whether the income had been recognised
in the appropriate accounting period
by confirming the date of delivery of the
relevant good or service.
– For a sample of tuition fee income
recognised in the period 01 August
2020 to 31 July 2021, assessing whether
the income had been recognised in
the appropriate accounting period by
confirming the start and end date of the
student’s course.
– Reperformance of a sample of year
end deferred income adjustments, to
assess the accuracy of the adjustments
recognised.
– Assessing significant accounting
estimates for bias.

– Enquiring of Executives, the Audit
Committee and internal audit as to
the Group and University’s high-level
policies and procedures to prevent and
detect fraud, including the Group’s and
University’s channel for “whistleblowing”,
as well as whether they have knowledge of
any actual, suspected or alleged fraud.
– Reading Court of Governors, Audit
Committee, Estates and Finance
Committee and Remuneration Committee
meeting minutes.
– Using analytical procedures to identify any
unusual or unexpected relationships.
We communicated identified fraud risks
throughout the audit team and remained
alert to any indications of fraud throughout
the audit.
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Identifying and responding to risks
of material misstatement due to noncompliance with laws and regulations
We identified areas of laws and regulations
that could reasonably be expected to have
a material effect on the financial statements
from our general commercial and sector
experience, and through discussion
with Executives (as required by auditing
standards) and discussed with the Executives
the policies and procedures regarding
compliance with laws and regulations.
We communicated identified laws and
regulations throughout our team and
remained alert to any indications of noncompliance throughout the audit.
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The potential effect of these laws and
regulations on the financial statements
varies considerably. Firstly, the Group and
University is subject to laws and regulations
that directly affect the financial statements
including financial reporting legislation,
taxation legislation and pensions legislation
and we assessed the extent of compliance
with these laws and regulations as part
of our procedures on the related financial
statement items.
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Secondly, the Group and University is
subject to many other laws and regulations
where the consequences of noncompliance could have a material effect
on amounts or disclosures in the financial
statements, for instance through the
imposition of fines or litigation or the loss
of University’s registration with the Office
for Students. We identified the following
areas as those most likely to have such
an effect: GDPR compliance, health and
safety, anti-bribery and employment law,
recognising the nature of the Group and
University’s activities. Auditing standards
limit the required audit procedures to

identify non-compliance with these laws
and regulations to enquiry of the Executive
team and inspection of regulatory and
legal correspondence, if any. Therefore, if
a breach of operational regulations is not
disclosed to us or evident from relevant
correspondence, an audit will not detect that
breach.
Context of the ability of the audit to detect
fraud or breaches of law or regulation
Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit,
there is an unavoidable risk that we may not
have detected some material misstatements
in the financial statements, even though we
have properly planned and performed our
audit in accordance with auditing standards.
For example, the further removed noncompliance with laws and regulations is
from the events and transactions reflected
in the financial statements, the less likely the
inherently limited procedures required by
auditing standards would identify it.
In addition, as with any audit, there remained
a higher risk of non-detection of fraud,
as these may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal controls. Our audit
procedures are designed to detect material
misstatement. We are not responsible
for preventing non-compliance or fraud
and cannot be expected to detect noncompliance with all laws and regulations.

Other information

The Court of Governors is responsible for
the other information, which comprises the
Strategic Review, Financial Review,
Governance Review, Corporate governance
statement and statement of internal control
and Annual remuneration statement. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not
cover the other information and, accordingly,
we do not express an audit opinion or,

except as explicitly stated below, any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider
whether, based on our financial statements
audit work, the information therein is
materially misstated or inconsistent with the
financial statements or our audit knowledge.
Based solely on that work:
– we have not identified material
misstatements in the other information;
and
– in our opinion the information given
in Strategic Review, Financial Review,
Governance Review, Corporate
governance statement and statement of
internal control and Annual remuneration
statement, is consistent with the financial
statements.

Court of Governors’
responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement
set out on page 55, the Court of Governors
is responsible for: the preparation of
the financial statements and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view;
such internal control as it determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error; assessing the Group and parent
University’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern; and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless it
either intends to liquidate the Group or the
parent University or to cease operations, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to

fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in
an auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but does not
guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually
or in aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the
financial statements.
A fuller description of our responsibilities is
provided on the FRC’s website at www.frc.
org.uk/auditors responsibilities.

Report on other legal and
regulatory requirements

We are required to report on the following
matters by the Accounts Direction dated
25 October 2019 issued by the Office for
Students (‘the Accounts Direction’).
In our opinion, in all material respects:
– funds from whatever source administered
by the Group or the University for specific
purposes have been properly applied
to those purposes and managed in
accordance with relevant legislation;
– funds provided by the Office for Students,
UK Research and Innovation (including
Research England), the Education and
Skills Funding Agency and the Department
for Education have been applied in
accordance with the relevant terms and
conditions; and
– the financial statements meet the
requirements of the Accounts Direction
dated 25 October 2019 issued by the
Office for Students.

Matters on which we are
required to report by exception
We are required by the Accounts Direction
to report to you where the University has
an access and participation plan that has

been approved by the Office for Students’
director of fair access and participation and
the results of our audit work indicate that the
Group’s and the University’s expenditure on
access and participation activities for the
financial year disclosed in Note 8.b has been
materially misstated.
We are also required by the Accounts
Direction to report to you where the results
of our audit work indicate that the Group’s
and the University’s grant and fee income,
as disclosed in note 3.b to the financial
statements has been materially misstated.
We have nothing to report in these respects.

The purpose of our audit work
and to whom we owe our
responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Court
of Governors, in accordance with the
Articles, Charters, Statutes or Ordinances
of the institution. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the
Court of Governors those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditor’s
report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the University and the Court of
Governors for our audit work, for this report,
or for the opinions we have formed.

Fleur Nieboer
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP
Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
15 Canada Square
London
E14 5GL
01 December 2021
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Consolidated and University Statement
of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Year Ended 31 July 2021

				Restated*
		 2021
2021
2020
		Consolidated
University
Consolidated
		
£’000
£’000
£’000
Notes

Restated*
2020
University
£’000

Income					
Tuition fees and education contracts
1
289,835
284,523
274,595
267,187
Funding body grants
2
22,206
22,206
21,359
21,359
Research grants and contracts
3
2,663
2,663
2,021
2,021
Other income
4
22,977
23,622
32,620
33,397
Investment income
5
5,042
5,042
2,731
2,727
Donations and endowments
6
2,066
2,066
2,215
2,215
Total income		

344,789

340,122

335,541

328,906

					
Expenditure
Staff costs
7
211,512
207,029
209,804
203,000
Other operating expenses
8
115,866
115,186
108,732
107,631
Depreciation
11
4,224
4,224
3,835
3,835
Interest and other finance costs
9
4,649
4,532
4,817
4,762
Total expenditure		

336,251

330,971

327,188

319,228

					
Surplus before other gains and losses
8,538
9,151
8,353
9,678
(Loss)/gain on investments
21/22
(1,038)
(1,038)
67
67
Gain/(loss) on fair value of financial instrument		
2,997
2,997
(3,967)
(3,967)

Surplus for the year		

10,497

11,110

4,453

5,778

Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of pension schemes

27

13,913

15,401

(94,164)

(89,904)

Total comprehensive income for the year		

24,410

26,511

(89,711)

(84,126)

Represented by:					
Endowment comprehensive income for the year		
1,201
1,201
77
Restricted comprehensive income for the year		
(186)
(186)
117
Unrestricted comprehensive income for the year		
23,700
25,801
(89,599)
Revaluation reserve comprehensive income for the year		
(305)
(305)
(306)

77
117
(84,014)
(306)

		 24,410

(84,126)
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All items of income and expenditure relate to continuing activities.
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*See Note 30 for details of the restatement

26,511

(89,711)

Consolidated and University Statement
of Changes in Reserves
Year Ended 31 July 2021

Consolidated		Income and expenditure account		
Endowment
Restricted
Unrestricted
£’000
£’000
£’000

Revaluation
reserve
£’000

Total
£’000

5,106

1,919

314,177

20,978

342,180

167
–
–
(90)

786
–
–
(669)

7,467
(98,131)
306
759

–
–
(306)
–

8,420
(98,131)
–
–

Total comprehensive income for the year

77

117

(89,599)

(306)

(89,711)

Balance at 1 August 2020 (Restated*)

5,183

2,036

224,578

20,672

252,469

Surplus from the income and expenditure statement

1,313

639

8,545

–

10,497

–
–
(112)

–
–
(825)

13,913
305
937

–
(305)
–

13,913
–
–

Total comprehensive income for the year

1,201

(186)

23,700

(305)

24,410

Balance at 31 July 2021

6,384

1,850

248,278

20,367

276,879

Balance at 1 August 2019 (Restated*)
Surplus from the income and expenditure statement
Other comprehensive income
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve
Release of restricted funds spent in year

Other comprehensive income
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve
Release of restricted funds spent in year

University		Income and expenditure account		
Endowment
Restricted
Unrestricted
£’000
£’000
£’000
Balance at 1 August 2019 (Restated*)

5,106

1,919

315,076

Revaluation
reserve
£’000
20,978

Total
£’000
343,079

Surplus from the income and expenditure statement
167
786
8,792
–
9,745
Other comprehensive income
–
–
(93,871)
–
(93,871)
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve
–
–
306
(306)
–
Release of restricted funds spent in year
(90)
(669)
759
–
–
					
Total comprehensive income for the year
77
117
(84,014)
(306)
(84,126)
Balance at 1 August 2020 (Restated*)

5,183

2,036

231,062

20,672

258,953

Surplus from the income and expenditure statement
1,313
639
9,158
–
11,110
Other comprehensive income
–
–
15,401
–
15,401
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve
–
–
305
(305)
–
Release of restricted funds spent in year
(112)
(825)
937
–
–
						
Total comprehensive income for the year
1,201
(186)
25,801
(305)
26,511
Balance at 31 July 2021

6,384

1,850

256,863

20,367

285,464

*See Note 30 for details of the restatement
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Consolidated and University Balance Sheet
at 31 July 2021

				Restated*
		 2021
2021
2020
		Consolidated
University
Consolidated
Notes
£’000
£’000
£’000
Non-current assets
Negative goodwill
Fixed assets
Heritage assets

10
11
11/12

Restated*
2020
University
£’000

(3,988)
530,437
22,400

(3,988)
530,767
22,400

(4,077)
463,289
22,400

(4,077)
463,619
22,400

		 548,849

549,179

481,612

481,942

Current assets
Stock
Trade and other receivables
Investments
Cash and cash equivalents

14
15
16
17

541
13,041
6,102
222,092

541
13,108
6,102
220,966

485
15,159
4,963
229,651

485
14,998
4,963
229,353

		

241,776

240,717

250,258

249,799

18

(102,151)

(103,072)

(76,897)

(78,120)

Net current assets		

139,625

137,645

173,361

171,679

Total assets less current liabilities		

688,474

686,824

654,973

653,621

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

19

(97,451)

(97,451)

(105,359)

(105,359)

Provisions
Pension provisions
Other provisions

20
20

(307,226)
(6,918)

(296,991)
(6,918)

(291,329)
(5,816)

(283,493)
(5,816)

Total net assets 		

276,879

285,464

252,469

258,953

21
22

6,384
1,850

6,384
1,850

5,183
2,036

5,183
2,036

Unrestricted reserves
Income and expenditure reserve – unrestricted
22
Revaluation reserve		

248,278
20,367

256,863
20,367

224,578
20,672

231,062
20,672

Total reserves		

276,879

285,464

252,469

258,953

Less: Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Restricted reserves
Income and expenditure reserve – endowment reserve
Income and expenditure reserve – restricted reserve
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The financial statements were approved by the Court of Governors on 23 November 2021 and signed on its behalf by:
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James Purnell
David Isaac CBE
President and Vice-Chancellor
Chair of the Court of Governors		

*See Note 30 for details of the restatement

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 July 2021

Restated*
		
2021
2020
Notes
£000
£000
Cash flow from operating activities
Surplus for the year		
Adjustment for non-cash items
Depreciation
11
Benefit on acquisition of Colleges released to Income
10
Loss/(gain) on investments
21/22
(Increase) in stock
14
Decrease/(increase) in debtors
15
Increase in creditors
18/19
Pension charges less contributions payable
27
Increase in other provisions
20

10,497

4,453

4,224
(89)
1,038
(56)
2,118
22,019 		
29,810
1,102

3,835
(89)
(67)
(16)
(1,805)
4,763
21,518
1,919

Adjustment for investing or financing activities
Investment income
5
Interest payable
9
Capital grant income		

(5,042)		
644
(1,272)		

(2,731)
1,214
(1,180)

Net cash inflow from operating activities

64,993 		

31,814

Cash flows from investing activities
Capital grants receipts		
Withdrawal of deposits		
Investment income		
Payments made to acquire fixed assets		

1,272 		
(2,177)		
5,042 		
(71,372)		

1,180
85,053
2,731
(57,498)

		 (67,235)		
				
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid		
(644)		
Repayment of amounts borrowed		
(4,673)		

31,466
(1,214)
(4,673)

		
(5,317)		 (5,887)
						
		
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents in the year		
(7,559)		 57,393
						
		
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
17
229,651 		
172,258
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year
17
222,092 		
229,651

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.

*See Note 30 for details of the restatement
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Statement of principal
accounting policies
Basis of preparation

The Group and parent University
financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, including Financial
Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) and
the Statement of Recommended Practice
(SORP): Accounting for Further and Higher
Education (2019 edition). They have also
been prepared in accordance with the
‘carried forward’ powers and duties of
previous legislation (Further and Higher
Education Act 1992 and the Higher
Education Act 2004) and the new powers
of the Higher Education and Research
Act 2017 during the transition period to
31 July 2019, the Accounts Direction
issued by the Office for Students (OfS), the
Terms and conditions of funding for higher
education institutions issued by the Office
for Students and the Terms and conditions
of Research England Grant.
The University has identified a prior year
adjustment in relation to an interest rate
swap. Details are given in note 30.

Going concern

arts.ac.uk

The Group and parent University’s
activities, together with the factors likely to
affect its future development, performance
and position, are set out in the Strategic
Report which forms part of the Court of
Governors Report. The Court of Governor’s
Report also describes the financial position
of the University, its cashflows, liquidity
position and borrowing facilities. The
financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis which the Court
of Governors consider to be appropriate for
the following reasons.
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The Court of Governors have scrutinised
cash flow forecasts for the period up to 31
Jul 2023. After reviewing these forecasts
the Court of Governors is of the opinion
that, the Group and parent University will
have sufficient funds to meet their liabilities
as they fall due over the period of twelve
months from the date of approval of the
financial statements (the going concern
assessment period). Having considered
this the Court of Governors is confident
that the University is in a strong position to
fulfil its objectives and meet its liabilities.

In making this assessment the Court of
Governors has considered the following;
– Impact on liquidity and financing. At the
balance sheet date the University has
a high level of liquid resources. It is not
expected that the University will require
further loan finance in the next twelve
months other than the arrangements
already agreed and in place. All banking
covenants have been satisfied for the year
ended 31 July 2021 and our modelling
indicates that this will continue to be the
case for the year ended 31 July 2022,
– Actual student numbers for 2021/22
are marginally above target levels. The
University has planning, budgeting and
forecasting processes in place which can
be flexed as necessary to limit the impact
of a changing situation or environment,
– Our academic delivery model for 2021/22
is based on blended delivery, and the
University can flex the model or go fully
online should the need arise, for either all
or part of our academic community,
– Governance structures have been adapted
so that decision making is agile and
effective decisions can be taken promptly
and efficiently,
– We are aware of our dependence on
certain geographical markets and are
developing new products and new markets
to diversify our income,
– There is active monitoring of key markets
such as China to assess emerging
geopolitical issues or changing risks.
This approach will enable the University
to react to legal, political, economic and
social issues as they arise.
Consequently, the Court of Governors
is confident that the Group and parent
University have a robust business model
and will have sufficient funds to continue
to meet their liabilities as they fall due for at
least 12 months from the date of approval of
the financial statements and therefore have
prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
include the University and all its subsidiaries
for the financial year to 31 July 2021.
Intra-group transactions are eliminated on
consolidation.

The consolidated financial statements do
not include the income and expenditure of
the Students’ Union as the University does
not exert control or dominant influence over
policy decisions.

Income recognition

Fee income is stated gross of any expenditure
which is not a discount and credited to the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure over the period
in which students are studying. Where the
amount of the tuition fee is reduced by
a discount for prompt payment, income
receivable is shown net of the discount.
Bursaries and scholarships are accounted
for gross as expenditure and not deducted
from income.
Income from the sale of goods or services
is credited to the Consolidated Statement
of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
when the goods or services are supplied to
the external customers or the terms of the
contract have been satisfied.
Funds the University receives and disburses
as paying agent on behalf of a funding
body are excluded from the income and
expenditure of the University where the
University is exposed to minimal risk or enjoys
minimal economic benefit related to the
transaction. Investment income is recognised
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure on a receivable basis.

Grant funding

Government revenue grants including funding
council block grant and research grants are
recognised in income over the periods in
which the University recognises the related
costs for which the grant is intended to
compensate. Where part of a government
grant is not expended it is carried forward as
deferred income within creditors.
Grants (including research grants) from
non-government sources are recognised in
income when the University is entitled to the
income and performance-related conditions
have been met. Income received in advance

of performance-related conditions being
met is recognised as deferred income within
creditors in the balance sheet and released to
income as the conditions are met.

Donations and endowments

Donations and endowments are recognised
in income when the University is entitled
to the funds. Where the donor imposes
restrictions, income is retained in restricted
reserves until such time as it is utilised in
line with such restrictions, at which point
the income is released to general reserves
through a reserve transfer. Investment income
and appreciation of endowments is recorded
in income in the year in which it arises and
as either restricted or unrestricted income
according to the terms of the concerned
endowment fund.
There are four main types of donations and
endowments identified within reserves:
1. R
 estricted donations – the donor has
specified that the donation must be used
for a particular objective.
2. U
 nrestricted permanent endowments –
the donor has specified that the fund is to
be permanently invested to generate an
income stream for the general benefit
of the University.
3. Restricted expendable endowments – the
donor has specified a particular objective
other than the purchase or construction
of tangible fixed assets, and the University
has the power to use the capital for that
particular objective.
4. R
 estricted permanent endowments –
the donor has specified that the fund is
to be permanently invested to generate
an income stream to be applied to a
particular objective.

Capital grants

Government capital grants are recognised
in income over the expected useful life of the
asset. Other capital grants are recognised in
income when the University is entitled to
the funds subject to any performance
related conditions.

Accounting for
retirement benefits

The three principal pension schemes for
the University’s staff are the Universities
Superannuation Scheme (USS), the
Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) and the
Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).
The schemes are defined benefit schemes
which are externally funded and contracted
out of the State Second Pension (S2P).
Each fund is valued every three to five years
by professionally qualified independent
actuaries.

Defined contribution plan

A defined contribution plan is a postemployment benefit plan under which the
University pays fixed contributions into
a separate entity and will have no legal
or constructive obligation to pay further
amounts. Obligations for contributions to
defined contribution pension plans are
recognised as an expense in the income
statement in the periods during which
services are rendered by employees.
The TPS and USS are treated as defined
contribution plans, since the University is
unable to identify its share of the underlying
assets and liabilities of these schemes.

Defined benefit plan

Defined benefit plans are post-employment
benefit plans other than defined contribution
plans. Under defined benefit plans, the
University has an obligation to provide
agreed benefits to current and former
employees who are members of the scheme,
and actuarial risk (that benefits will cost more
or less than expected) and investment risk
(that returns on assets set aside to fund
the benefits will differ from expectations)
are borne, in substance, by the University.
Accordingly, the Group recognises a liability
for its obligations under defined benefit plans
net of plan assets. This net defined benefit
liability is measured as the estimated amount
of benefit that employees have earned in
return for their service in the current and prior
periods, discounted to determine its present
value, less the fair value (at bid price) of plan
assets. The calculation is performed by a
qualified actuary using the projected unit
credit method.
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Statement of principal accounting policies

Employment benefits

Short-term employment benefits such as
salaries and compensated absences are
recognised as an expense in the year in
which the employees render service to the
University. Any unused benefits are accrued
and measured as the additional amount the
University expects to pay as a result of the
unused entitlement.

Operating leases

Costs in respect of operating leases are
charged on a straight line basis over the
lease term.
The University holds a number of nomination
agreements with student accommodation
service providers. The University has
assessed the agreements and is treating
them as operating leases. The agreements
guarantee that University students will
occupy a minimum proportion of rooms
within a property over a year. The operation
of each agreement varies. Depending on
the occupancy level attained against the
guaranteed occupancy level, the University
will either receive surplus income from the
service provider or make a payment to cover
under-occupancy.
Where information is available on the rent
collected from students by the service
provider, and the service provider is
considered to be acting as an agent
for the University, the net payment or
receipt is grossed-up to show income
and expenditure separately in the financial
statements. Where this information is not
readily obtainable by the University, a net
payment is recognised in expenditure and a
receipt is recognised in income.
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Foreign currency
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Transactions denominated in foreign
currencies are recorded at the rate
of exchange ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are
translated into sterling either at year-end
rates or, where there are related forward
foreign exchange contracts, at contract
rates. The resulting exchange differences are
dealt with in the determination of income and
expenditure for the financial year.

Fixed assets

Fixed assets are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation. Where parts of
a fixed asset have different useful lives, they
are accounted for as separate items of
fixed assets.

Land and property

The cost of land and property inherited on
incorporation cannot readily be ascertained
and is therefore included on the basis of
valuations carried out in November 1989
using the assumption that the buildings will
continue in educational use. Other land and
buildings are included in the balance sheet
at cost.
Freehold land is not depreciated. Freehold
buildings are depreciated over their expected
useful life to the University of up to 50 years.
Where property held is listed, it is deemed
to have an infinite useful life and thus not
depreciated. Leasehold land and buildings
are amortised over 50 years or, if shorter,
the period of the lease. Improvements to
freehold buildings are depreciated
over 10 to 20 years.

Where equipment is acquired with the aid of
specific grants it is capitalised and depreciated
in accordance with the above policy.

Heritage assets

Assets that are of historical, scientific,
artistic or technological value and are held
and maintained by the University primarily
for their contribution to knowledge and
culture, are recognised in the balance
sheet at valuation. The value of the assets
is periodically reviewed to ensure they
are adequately stated. Gains and losses
on revaluation are recognised in the
statement of recognised gains and losses.
No depreciation is charged on heritage
assets as they are expected to have a
long economic life. Maintenance costs
are recognised when incurred.

Intangible assets and goodwill
Negative goodwill arising in respect of
the activities of colleges transferred to the
University is included within fixed assets.
Negative goodwill is amortised over the
service lives of long life assets to which the
goodwill is attributed.

Where land and buildings are acquired with
the aid of specific grants they are capitalised
and depreciated as above.

Investments

Buildings under construction are accounted
for at cost, based upon the value of
architects’ certificates and other direct
costs incurred during the year. They are not
depreciated until they are brought into use.
Finance costs which are directly attributable
to the construction of land and buildings are
not capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets.

Stock

Equipment

Equipment costing less than £40,000
per individual item is written off to the
income and expenditure account in the
year of acquisition. All other equipment is
capitalised at cost. Capitalised equipment
is depreciated over its useful economic life
on a straight line basis as follows:
Equipment
Computer
Fixtures/fittings

Years
3
5

Non current asset investments are stated
at cost less any impairment.
Stocks are stated at the lower of their cost
and net realisable value. Where necessary,
provision is made for obsolete, slow moving
and defective stocks.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash includes cash in hand, deposits
repayable on demand and overdrafts.
Cash equivalents are highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash within 90 days with
insignificant risk of change in value.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised in the financial
statements when:
(a) the University has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event;
(b) it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the
obligation; and
(c) a
 reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is
determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
risks specific to the liability.

Taxation

The University is an exempt charity within the
meaning of Part 3 of the Charities Act 2011.
It is therefore a charity within the meaning of
Para 1 of schedule 6 to the Finance Act 2010
and accordingly, the University is exempt
from taxation in respect of income or capital
gains received within categories covered
by section 478–488 of the Corporation Tax
Act 2010 (CTA 2010) or section 256 of the
Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to
the extent that such income or gains are
applied to exclusively charitable purposes.
The University is partially exempt in respect of
Value Added Tax, so that it can only recover
a minor element of VAT charged on its inputs.
Irrecoverable VAT on inputs is included in the
costs of such inputs and added to the cost of
tangible fixed assets as appropriate.
The University’s subsidiaries are liable to
Corporation Tax in the same way as any other
commercial organisation.

Reserves

Reserves are classified as restricted or
unrestricted. Restricted endowment reserves
include balances which, through endowment
to the University, are held as a permanently
restricted fund which the University must
hold in perpetuity.
Other restricted reserves include balances
where the donor has designated a specific
purpose and therefore the University is
restricted in the use of these funds.

Non-basic financial
instruments

The University has entered into a number
of fixed rate interest rate caps to manage
its exposure to cash flow risk on its variable
interest rate debt. It also has a fixed interest
rate swap on a variable interest rate loan
facility which has not been drawn down.
Following the provisions of both Section
11 and Section 12 of FRS 102, these caps
and the swap are measured at fair value at
each reporting date. By default, the gain (or
loss) on measurement is recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure for the period.

Judgements and estimates

Fixed assets
Buildings have been apportioned between
two components: property and fixtures,
fittings and equipment. The apportionment
of the costs between these components was
based on the elemental cost breakdowns
of the projects to establish the appropriate
proportion of costs that should be attributed
to the identified components.
Assumptions have also been made
regarding the remaining useful economic
lives of the buildings. Consideration has been
given to both the physical and functional
obsolescence of the building and its
components.
Annual leave accrual
The University has provided for the cost
of unused annual leave of its employees
at the end of the financial year. For nonacademic staff the accrual was based
on the actual leave carried forward at 31
July. The University has assumed that for
academic staff a consistent level of leave
similar to other staff is carried forward by
each member of staff.
Financial instruments
The University has entered into a number of
interest rate caps and an interest rate swap
on an undrawn loan facility. These caps and
swap have been valued at the year-end using
valuations as provided by our bank.

Heritage assets
Heritage assets are valued based on
assumptions made by external valuers.
Asset valuations are determined by the
valuer’s opinion on the physical condition
of items and their judgement of market
conditions. Assets have not been revalued
this year and there is unlikely material impact
in value
Retirement benefit obligations
Significant area of judgment
In determining the valuation of defined benefit
schemes’ assets and liabilities, a number of
key estimates and assumptions have been
made in relation to:
– inflation rate;
– life expectancy;
– discount rate; and
– salary and pension growth rates.
The University is exposed to risks through its
defined benefit schemes if actual experience
differs to the estimates used and through
volatility in the plan assets. At 31 July 2021,
the methodology for calculating the pension
increase has changed. The University has
used assumptions of CPI plus 0.1% p.a.
as at 31 July 2021. As at 31 July 2020, the
University assumed pension increases in line
with CPI. It is estimated that the impact of this
change in methodology is an increase in the
in the liability of c.£8.5 million.
At 31 July 2021, the University has updated
the methodology used to derive the CPI
inflation assumption – in particular, the
deduction from break-even inflation applied
when setting the CPI assumption has been
updated from 0.8% to 1.0%. The impact
of the changes in approach when setting
the CPI assumption of c.20 basis points is
expected to have been a c. £30m decrease
in the liability.Details on the CPI used, other
estimates and associated sensitivities are
included in note 27.
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Notes to
the accounts
1. Tuition fees and education contracts		
2021
		Consolidated
		
£’000

2021
University
£’000

2020
Consolidated
£’000

2020
University
£’000

HE home and EU students		
HE international students		
FE home and EU students		
FE international students		
Non-credit bearing courses		
Exam and registration fees		

105,572
152,703
575
13,391
9,706
7,888

105,572
152,703
575
13,391
4,394
7,888

95,941
137,783
689
15,275
15,712
9,195

95,941
137,783
689
15,275
8,304
9,195

		

289,835

284,523

274,595

267,187

9,117
4,286
804
2,632

9,117
4,286
804
2,632

2. Funding body grants
Recurrent grant
		
Office for Students (OfS) 		
Research England		
Skills Funding Agency		
Education Funding Agency 		

9,277
9,277
3,817
3,817
807		 807
2,437
2,437

Specific grants
OfS capital grants – buildings		
1,152
1,152
1,051 		 1,051
OfS capital grants – equipment		
120
120
129 		 129
Higher Education Innovation Fund		
4,095
4,095
3,841 		 3,841
							
		
22,206
22,206
21,359
21,359
					
3. Research grants and contracts
Research councils		
Research charities		
Government (UK and overseas)		
Industry and commerce		
Other 		

2,125
114
375
22
27

2,125
114
375
22
27

1,647
166
119
–
89

1,647
166
119
–
89

		

2,663

2,663

2,021

2,021

Grant income from the OfS		
Grant income from other bodies		
Fee income for research awards		
Fee income from non-qualifying courses 		
Fee income for taught awards		

10,389
14,480
898
31,560
257,377

10,389
14,480
898
26,248
257,377

10,457
12,923
732
40,871
232,992

10,457
12,923
732
33,463
232,992

Total Grant and Fee income		

314,704

309,392

297,975

290,567

3.b Grants and Fees Income
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Notes 1–3 can be re-analysed as follows:
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4. Other income		
2021
2021
2020
2020
		 Consolidated
University
Consolidated
University
Notes
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
						
Residences and catering 		
15,932
15,932
23,193
23,193
Retail operations		
384
384
1,398
1,398
Other revenue grants		
3,614
3,460
5,026
4,893
Other income		
2,958
3,757
2,914
3,824
Release of benefit arising from acquisitions
10
89
89
89
89
		

22,977

23,622

32,620

33,397

Investment income on endowments
20
Other investment income		

90
4,952

90
4,952

100
2,631

100
2,627

		

5,042

5,042

2,731

2,727

5. Investment income

6. Donations and endowments
Donations with restrictions
21
380
380
786
786
Unrestricted donations		
1,686
1,686
1,429
1,429
							
		
2,066
2,066
2,215
2,215

7. Staff costs		
2021
		 Consolidated
		
£’000

2021
University
£’000

2020
Consolidated
£’000

2020
University
£’000

Salaries		
Social security costs		
Movement on USS provision		
Pension costs 		

145,522
15,325
(110)
50,775

142,696
14,899
(110)
49,544

151,105
14,098
(897)
42,334

146,247
13,699
(897)
40,991

Sub-total		

211,512

207,029

206,640

200,040

Restructuring costs		

–

–

3,164

2,960

Total 		

211,512

207,029

209,804

203,000
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Notes to the accounts

7. Staff costs (continued)
Emoluments Vice-Chancellor – until 31 March 2021			
2021 		
2020
			£		£
Basic Salary*			
206,219		
280,228
Benefits in kind			
177		
85
			206,396		 280,313
* The basic salary for Nigel Carrington above includes £19,400 in relation to annual leave accrued not taken by his last day of service.
Emoluments President and Vice-Chancellor – from 1 March 2021		
2021 		
			£		
Basic Salary			
122,916		
Pension			18,438
Benefits in kind			
91
			141,445
James Purnell joined the University on 1 March 2021 and was appointed President and Vice-Chancellor on 1 April 2021.
The Chair of the Court of Governors meets regularly with the President and Vice-Chancellor and a formal appraisal takes place
annually. Following this, Remuneration Committee considers the President and Vice-Chancellor’s performance and remuneration
(further information about the Remuneration Committee is set out within the Annual Remuneration Statement on page 53.
In determining a remuneration package for the new President and Vice-Chancellor at its meeting in October 2020, the Remuneration
Committee considered benchmarking information in relation to the proposed new basic salary, to understand how this compared
with VC salaries at other institutions. The new basic salary placed UAL’s President and Vice-Chancellor within the lower middle
quartile in comparison with remuneration in the London peer group and with remuneration in the benchmarking group identified by
the CUC.
The Remuneration Committee considered that the outgoing Vice-Chancellor’s salary had been below the sector average and that
he had accepted only very modest pay increases year-on-year. The Committee considered UAL’s position and that the University
is in the top quartile by size of UK universities, as well as being Europe’s largest specialist art and design university, ranked second
in the world for art and design (QS World University Rankings). The Remuneration Committee noted that the incoming President
and Vice-Chancellor would not receive accommodation or similar benefits from his role. The Committee took all of these factors
into consideration in order to determine the overall remuneration package for the President and Vice-Chancellor. The outgoing
Vice-Chancellor had chosen not to participate in the pension scheme. The incoming President and Vice-Chancellor has opted to
participate in the standard UAL pension scheme, as reflected in the total remuneration package pay ratios set out in this note. The
President and Vice-Chancellor’s Remuneration Package is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee on an annual basis.

Ratio of Vice-Chancellor’s (resigned 31 March 2021) remuneration to staff pay medians:
		
2021
2021
2020
		
University Consolidated
University

2020
Consolidated

Basic Pay		

6.9:1

6.9:1

6.7:1

6.9:1

Total remuneration		

6.1:1

6.0:1

5.9:1

5.9:1

Ratio of President and Vice-Chancellor’s (joined 1 March 2021) remuneration to staff pay medians:
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2021
2021
2020
		
University Consolidated
University
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2020
Consolidated

Basic Pay		

7.2:1

7.2:1

–

–

Total remuneration		

7.1:1

7.1:1

–

–

Staff who are not on a fixed salary (generally hourly paid casual staff) are excluded from this calculation as a comparable salary
cannot be determined in respect of them.

Remuneration of higher paid staff, including the Vice Chancellor and President and Vice Chancellor, excluding pension contributions
or other benefits is as follows:
				Number of employees
			 2021		2020
			 No.		No.
				
£100,000 to £104,999			
2		
5
£105,000 to £109,999			
1		
2
£110,000 to £114,999			
2		
3
£115,000 to £119,999			
1		
1
£120,000 to £124,999			
4		
4
£125,000 to £129,999			
–		
–
£130,000 to £134,999			
–		
–
£135,000 to £139,999			
2		
2
£140,000 to £144,999			
4		
3
£145,000 to £149,999			
–		
–
£150,000 to £154,999			
–		
–
£155,000 to £159,999			
–		
–
£160,000 to £164,999			
–		
–
£165,000 to £169,999			
–		
–
£170,000 to £174,999			
–		
1
£175,000 to £179,999			
–		
1
£180,000 to £184,999			
–		
–
£185,000 to £189,999			
–		
–
£205,000 to £209,999			

1		

–

£280,000 to £284,999			

–		

1

			

17		

23

This note excludes five leavers who would have earned a basic salary of above £100,000 if they had worked until the year end.
Average staff numbers by major category:				Number of employees (FTE)		
			2021		
2020
			 No.		
No.
Teaching departments			
Teaching support services			
Student services			
Central services			
Premises			
Residences and catering			
Research contracts			
Other			

1,482		
776		
99		
312		
134		
67		
16		
56		

1,442
761
89
305
132
52
18
64

			

2,942		

2,863

Key management personnel
The University’s Operating Board is made up of the key management personnel who have authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the operations of the University. Amounts paid to key management personnel are as follows:			
				
				

2021		2020
£’000		£’000

Staffing Costs (excluding President and Vice-Chancellor)				
Number of Staff				

3,585		 3,801
28		
30
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Compensation for loss of office:
2021

University

Subsidiaries

Consolidated

Number
of staff

Amount
£

Number
of staff

Amount
£

Number
of staff

Total
£

Severance
Redundancy

12
72

390,404
435,102

1
1

30,245
11,836

13
73

420,649
446,938

Total

84

825,506

2

42,081

86

867,587

2020

University

Subsidiaries

Consolidated

Number
of staff

Amount
£

Number
of staff

Amount
£

Number
of staff

Total
£

Voluntary Severance Scheme
Other Severance
Redundancy

111
14
88

2,959,965
352,988
537,333

9
3
–

203,604
100,969
–

120
17
88

3,163,569
453,957
537,333

Total

213

3,850,286

12

304,573

225

4,154,859

Court Members
The University’s Court of Governor’s are trustees for charitable law purposes. Due to the nature of the University’s operations and
the composition of the Court, being drawn from local public and private sector organisations, it is inevitable that transactions will
take place with organisations in which a member of the Court may have an interest. All transactions involving organisations in which
a member of Court may have an interest, including those identified below, are conducted at arms length and in accordance with the
University’s Financial Regulations and usual procurement procedures.
The University has four Staff Governors who are paid as employees of the University (2020: five Staff Governors) However, they do
not receive additional remuneration for acting in the capacity of Governor.
No Governors have received any remuneration/waived payments from the group during the year (2020 – none)
The total expenses paid was £303 to one governor (2020: £707 to three governors). This relates to the fee for a conference attended
for university business in their official capacity.
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8a. Analysis of total expenditure by activity		
		
Notes
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2021
Consolidated
£’000

2021
University
£’000

2020
Consolidated
£’000

2020
University
£’000

Academic departments		
Academic services		
Student services		
Educational expenditure		
Central services		
Premises		
Residences and catering		
Research contracts		
Other services rendered		

16,857
16,805
2,402
7,563
6,530
38,492
25,159
1,055
1,003

16,220
16,805
2,351
7,563
6,530
38,492
25,159
1,055
1,011

16,225
19,751
1,987
6,140
7,444
27,905
26,494
863
1,923

15,143
19,751
1,987
6,140
7,444
27,905
26,494
863
1,904

		

115,866

115,186

108,732

107,631

82		
65		
23,994		

102
164
22,520

Other operating expenses include:
External auditors remuneration in respect of audit services
External auditors remuneration in respect of non-audit services
Operating lease rentals – land and property		
Auditors remuneration is stated exclusive of VAT.

8b. Access and Participation Total Costs
University and consolidated
			2021
			
£’000 		
			
Access Investment			
2,447 		
Financial Support 			
3,585 		
Disability Support			
1,634 		
Research and Evaluation 			
253 		
			

7,919 		

2020
£’000
2,425
3,133
1,679
32
7,269

The total costs include £3,398k (2020: £3,127k) already shown in the overall staff costs figures in the financial statements, see note 7.
Key assumptions:					
The disclosure note shows expenditure only and does not reflect any grants/allowances received.
Staff costs are calculated on an actual basis by referencing each individual’s pay plus employer’s NI and pension costs. Discussions
with employees were held in order to work out the best estimate of their time allocation if their involvement was less than 100%.
The University has included expenditure relating to adjustments to the Estates needed to support student mobility.
The actual spend for Financial Support was significantly higher than the initial plan. This was because of the financial impact on
students of the pandemic and the need to support students with equipment and materials costs for remote learning. Actual spend
on Access and Disabled Students was below the initial plan. This was due to the outreach programme incurring lower costs due to
being delivered remotely. Remote learning also reduced expenditure required to support disabled students.
A link to the University’s publicly available access and participation plan is here: https://www.arts.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_
file/0029/182585/OFS-Action-and-Participation-Plan-2020-21-to-2024-25.pdf
9. Interest and other finance costs		
2021
2021
2020
2020
		 Consolidated
University
Consolidated
University
Notes
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
					
Loan interest		
644
643
1,214
1,214
Exchange differences		
10
10
25
25
Decrease in fair value of derivatives		
6
6
12
12
Net charge on pension scheme 		
3,989
3,873
3,566
3,511
		

4,649

4,532

4,817

4,762

10. Negative goodwill
University and consolidated

£’000

Fair Value arising on acquisitions
At 31 July 2020 and at 31 July 2021
14,971
		
Released to income and expenditure account
At 1 August 2020
(10,894)
Release for year
(89)
At 31 July 2021

(10,983)

Net Book Value
At 31 July 2021

3,988

At 31 July 2020

4,077

Negative goodwill arose in respect of the assets and activities of the colleges transfered to the University in prior years.
The amortisation period is commensurate with the recovery of the non-monetary assets acquired.
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11. Fixed assets

Consolidated
Cost and valuation
At 1 August 2020
Additions
Transfers

Freehold
Land and
Property
£’000

407,456
2,896
611

Long
Leasehold
Land and
Property
£’000

58,450
–
–

Short
Leasehold
Property
£’000

12,780
1,526
–

Fixtures,
Fittings and
Equipment
£’000

15,527
194
–

Assets in the
Course of
Construction
£’000

Heritage
assets
£’000

Total
£’000

24,704
66,756
(611)

22,400
–
–

541,317
71,372
–

At 31 July 2021
410,963
58,450
14,306
15,721
90,849
22,400
612,689
								
							
Depreciation
At 1 August 2020
31,978
563
8,002
15,085
–
–
55,628
Charge for the year
3,524
20
394
286
–
–
4,224
At 31 July 2021

35,502

583

8,396

15,371

–

–

59,852

Net book value
At 31 July 2021

375,461

57,867

5,910

350

90,849

22,400

552,837

At 31 July 2020

375,478

57,887

4,778

442

24,704

22,400

485,689

University
Cost and valuation
At 1 August 2020
Additions
Transfers

407,786
2,896
611

58,450
–
–

12,780
1,526
–

15,197
194
–

24,704
66,756
(611)

22,400
–
–

541,317
71,372
–

At 31 July 2021
411,293
58,450
14,306
15,391
90,849
22,400
612,689
								
							
Depreciation
At 1 August 2020
31,978
563
8,002
14,755
–
–
55,298
Charge for the year
3,524
20
394
286
–
4,224
At 31 July 2021

35,502

583

8,396

15,041

–

–

59,522

Net book value
At 31 July 2021
375,791
57,867
5,910
350
90,849
22,400
553,167
							
At 31 July 2020
375,808
57,887
4,778
442
24,704
22,400
486,019
At 31 July 2021, freehold land and buildings included £61.1m (2020 – £46.7m) in respect of freehold land that is not depreciated.
At 31 July 2021, long leasehold land and buildings included £57.3m (2020 – £57.3m) in respect of long leasehold land that is not
depreciated.
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Commitments contracted for future capital investments as of 31 July 2021 totalled approximately £89m.
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12. Heritage assets
Heritage assets are measured at valuation as explained below, assets have not been revalued this year, there is unlikely
material impact in value. There have been no additions or disposals since 2010:
The University owns a sculpture by Henry Moore (1898 – 1986): Two-Piece Reclining Figure No.1, (1959). The bronze was
donated to Chelsea School of Art in 1963 after a purpose-built school was opened on Manresa Road. The discussions
surrounding the donation of the sculpture from Henry Moore are detailed in minutes of the Governors’ meetings in
1963 – 1964. The sculpture represents an important development in Moore’s work, being the first time he separated the
reclining figure into two pieces. It is currently located at the University’s Millbank site and is accessible to the public. Due
to the length of time elapsed since acquisition, it has been deemed that the value in 2001 (£2 million), the earliest value
readily attainable, should be taken as the book value at acquisition. The value of the Henry Moore Sculpture is regularly
reviewed by a professional valuer every 3 – 5 years for insurance purposes to ensure adequate cover is in place. The
valuation is based on the probable cost of replacing the item in its current condition with a comparable item in similar
condition by purchase in the normal retail market at the valuation date. This was last carried out in 2016 – 17 and there is
no reason to believe the value of the statue has fallen since then. When the statue was last revalued it increased by £2m
so it is unlikely that any increase in book value this year would be significantly material to the University’s Balance Sheet.
The total value at 31 July 2021 is £12 million.
In March 2007, extensive archives of the late acclaimed filmmaker Stanley Kubrick (1928 –1999) were donated to the
University. The Kubrick Archive contains comprehensive collections of materials relating to film production comprising
scripts, treatments, drafts, extensive working and research documents, correspondence, costumes, props, models,
production schedules, photography, books and film equipment. The Archives are housed in a purpose-built Archives and
Special Collections Centre at the London College of Communication to ensure that the archives are preserved and on
display for posterity. They are accessible to students, researchers, and the general public by arrangement. The Kubrick
Archive is included in the balance sheet as a collection based on the insurance value since acquisition. The University
was able to obtain a value on the Kubrick Archive at the point of donation, although it has not been possible to obtain any
further valuation on the collection due to the unique nature of it. There is no reason to suspect that the archive has fallen
in value as Kubrick remains a popular figure in the world of film. The total value at 31 July 2021 is £10.4 million.
13. Non-current asset investments
Subsidiary companies
£

Other fixed asset investments
£

Total
£

At 1 August 2020
Disposals

203
–

121
(19)

324
(19)

At 31 July 2021

203

102

305

University
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14. Stock
Notes
2021
2021
2020
2020
		 Consolidated
University
Consolidated
University
		
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
					
Catering stocks		
44
44
51
51
Retail stocks		
497
497
434
434
		
		
541
541
485
485

2021
Consolidated
£’000

2021
University
£’000

2020
Consolidated
£’000

2020
University
£’000

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade receivables		
Other receivables		
Prepayments		
Accrued income 		
Amounts due from subsidiary companies		

3,766
973
6,246
2,056
–

3,760
895
6,105
1,916
432

5,867
1,098
7,420
774
–

5,832
1,072
7,334
740
20

		

13,041

13,108

15,159

14,998

2021
Consolidated
£’000

2021
University
£’000

2020
Consolidated
£’000

2020
University
£’000

Short term deposits and investments		
Financial derivatives – Interest rate caps
23

6,093
9

6,093
9

4,949
14

4,949
14

		

6,102

6,102

4,963

4,963

15. Trade and other receivables		
		
		

16. Current asset investments		
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Deposits are held with banks and building societies operating in the London market and licensed by the Financial Services
Authority with more than three months maturity at the balance sheet date. The interest rates for these deposits are fixed for the
duration of the deposit at time of placement.
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17. Cash and cash equivalents
		 At 1st August 2020
		£’000

Cash Flows
£’000

At 31st July 2021
£’000

Consolidated
Cash and cash equivalents		

229,651

(7,559)

222,092

		

229,651

(7,559)

222,092

18. Creditors : amounts falling due within one year		
		
2021
		 Consolidated
		
£’000

2021
University
£’000

2020
Consolidated
£’000

2020
University
£’000

Secured loans		
Trade payables		
Social security and other taxation payable		
Amounts due to subsidiary companies		
Accruals		
Deferred income		

4,673
19,981
3,780
–
4,237
53,161

4,673
19,922
3,542
2,892
3,917
51,959

4,673
11,902
3,162
–
4,534
37,383

4,673
11,660
3,105
3,228
4,212
36,099

Other creditors		

16,319

16,167

15,243

15,143

		

102,151

103,072

76,897

78,120

Deferred income
Deferred income which has been deferred until specific performance related conditions have been met is as follows:				
		
2021
2021
2020
2020
		 Consolidated
University
Consolidated
University
		
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
					
Deferred capital grant		
1,152
1,152
1,051
1,051
Other deferred income		
52,009
50,807
36,332
35,048
		

53,161

51,959

37,383

36,099
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19. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
				Restated*
		
2021
2021
2020
		 Consolidated
University
Consolidated
		
£’000
£’000
£’000

Restated*
2020
University
£’000

Deferred income – capital grants		
Unsecured loans		
Interest rate swap 		

18,140
72,547
6,764

18,140
72,547
6,764

18,378
77,220
9,761

18,378
77,220
9,761

		

97,451

97,451

105,359

105,359

Due within one year or on demand		

4,673

4,673

4,673

4,673

Due between one and two years		
Due between two and five years		
Due in five years or more		

4,673
14,019
53,855

4,673
14,019
53,855

4,673
14,019
58,528

4,673
14,019
58,528

Due after more than one year		

72,547

72,547

77,220

77,220

Total unsecured loans		
77,220
77,220
81,893
				

81,893

Analysis of unsecured loans:

The University has loan arrangements in place with Lloyds Bank Plc with an average interest rate payable of 0.56% over the
financial year.
The University also has in place a further £120 million facility to fund its future capital developments.
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The University has entered into a variable to fixed interest rate swap on an undrawn loan facility of £80 million to manage its
exposure to interest rate fluctuations. This instrument is measured at £6.7 million (2020: £9.7 million) at the reporting date.
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*See Note 30 for details of the restatement

20. Provisions for liabilities

Pension liabilites

Pension
Obligation to
fund deficit on enhancements
USS Pension on termination
(Note 27)
(Note 27)
£’000
£’000

Defined
Benefit
Obligations
(Note 27)
£’000

Total
Pensions
Provisions
£’000

Consolidated		
At 1 August 2020				
Movement in year 				

969
(103)

4,649
(361)

285,711
16,361

291,329
15,897

At 31 July 2021				

866

4,288

302,072

307,226

Leasehold
Dilapidation
£’000

Legal
Provision
£’000

Total other
Provisions
£’000

Consolidated		
At 1 August 2020
				
Utilised in year					
Additions in year					

3,604
–
170

2,212
(489)
1,421

5,816
(2,337)
3,439

At 31 July 2021					

3,774

3,144

6,918

Pension
Obligation to
fund deficit on enhancements
USS Pension on termination
(Note 27)
(Note 27)
£’000
£’000

Defined
Benefit
Obligations
(Note 27)
£’000

Total
Pensions
Provisions
£’000

Other liabilites

Pension liabilites
University
At 1 August 2020				
Movement in year				

969
(103)

4,649
(361)

277,875
13,962

283,493
13,498

At 31 July 2021				

866

4,288

291,837

296,991

Leasehold
Dilapidation
£’000

Legal
Provision
£’000

Total other
Provisions
£’000

University		
At 1 August 2020		
			
Utilised in year					
Additions in year					

3,604
–
170

2,212
(489)
1,421

5,816
(2,337)
3,439

At 31 July 2021					

3,774

3,144

6,918

Other liabilites

Leasehold dilapidation
The leasehold dilapidation provision relates to the projected cost to return three leasehold properties to the original condition at the
start of the lease. Payments will be made on the termination of each lease.
Legal provision
The provision is an estimate of the costs related to several cases where there is some uncertainty around the eventual outcome
where reasonable estimate of outflow could be identified. Payment is possible over the next year.
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21. Endowment reserves
Restricted net assets relating to endowments are as follows:

Restricted
permanent
endowments
£’000

Unrestricted
permanent
endowments
£’000

Expendable
endowments
£’000

2021
Total
£’000

3,355
561

546
59

678
(16)

4,579
604

4,512
594

3,916

605

662

5,183

5,106

62
(14)
914

17
(22)
149

11
(76)
160

90
(112)
1,223

100
(90)
67

Total endowment comprehensive income for the year 962

144

95

1,201

77

At 31 July 2021

4,878

749

757

6,384

5,183

Represented by:
Capital
Accumulated income

4,269
609

695
54

838
(81)

5,802
582

4,579
604

4,878

749

757

6,384

5,183

3,787
1,081

–
754

–
762

3,787
2,597

3,017
2,166

4,868

754

762

6,384

5,183

Analysis by asset
Current asset investments				
Cash and cash equivalents				

6,093
291

4,949
234

				

6,384

5,183

Balances at 1 August 2020
Capital
Accumulated income

Investment income
Expenditure
Increase in market value of investments
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Analysis by type of purpose:
University Chairs
Scholarships, bursaries and prizes
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2020
Total
£’000

22. Reserves
Restricted Reserves:
		
Capital grants
Donations
2021 Total
2020 Total
		
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
					
Balances at 1 August 2020		
526
1,510
2,036
1,919
New donations		
Capital grants released		
Expenditure		
Transfer from unrestricted		

–
(188)
–
–

380
–
(637)
259

380
(188)
(637)
259

786
(188)
(481)
–

Total restricted comprehensive income for the year		

(188)

2

(186)

117

At 31 July 2021		

338

1,512

1,850

2,036

Analysis of other restricted funds/donations by type of purpose:
				
2021 Total
				
£’000

2020 Total
£’000

Scholarships and bursaries				
Research support				
Capital grants				

1,376
136
338

1,124
386
526

				

1,850

2,036

Unrestricted reserves:
The University retains its available unrestricted reserves for the purpose of funding future capital projects to which the University
expects shortly to become committed. Included within the unrestricted reserves is a unrealised loss of £2,261k (2020: nil) in cash and
cash equivalent balances.
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23. Financial instruments
Interest Rate Cap Agreements
The University has a number of financial instruments to limit its exposure to interest rate fluctuations on loan facilities entered into
as part of the capital development programme. The caps cover a range of periods over the life of the University’s loan facilities.
The following Interest Rate Caps were effective as 31 July 2021:
Swap Type

Total Notional Amount
£’000

Floating to Fixed

60,000

Maturity Date
03/05/2022 – 03/05/2024

Capped Rate
2.5% – 4.0%

The fair value is determined by the quoted market price provided by the counterparty.
The University has entered into a variable to fixed interest rate swap on an undrawn loan facility of £80 million to manage its
exposure to interest rate fluctuations. This instrument is measured at £6.7 million (2020: £9.7 million) at the reporting date. This is
detailled in note 19.

24. Lease obligations
Total rentals payable under operating leases, all relate to land and buildings:
31 July 2021
£’000

31 July 2020
£’000

Payable during the year

23,994

22,520

Future minimum lease payments due:
Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and less than 5 years
Later than 5 years

23,961
98,273
198,117

19,378
82,424
158,666

Total lease payments due

320,351

260,468
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Consolidated and University
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25. Subsidiary undertakings				
The subsidiary companies (all of which are registered in England & Wales), wholly-owned or effectively controlled by the University,
are as follows:
Company

Principal Activity

Status

UAL Short Courses Limited
UAL Ventures Limited
UAL ArtsTemps Limited

Short courses and consultancy
International short courses and consultancy
Employment agency services

100% owned
100% owned
100% owned

100
2
100

100% owned

1

Non-trading subsidiaries are as follows
London Arts Property Limited
Did not trade

Ordinary shares of £1

			
Shares owned by subsidiary entities
UAL Ventures (China)
Did not trade
		

203

100% owned by
UAL Ventures Limited

1

			

204

26. Connected charitable institutions
Contained within the University’s endowments funds are 4 connected charitable institutions which are administered by or on behalf
of the University and have been established for its general or special purposes. As a result, under paragraph 28 of Schedule 3 to
the Charities Act 2011, these connected institutions are exempt from registration with the Charity Commission. These activities are
included in the Consolidated financial statements and may be analysed as follows:
						 Change in
			Opening balance
Income
Expenditure
market value
Category of spend			
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Consolidated
Bursaries, scholarships and prizes		
(2 connected institutions)
University chairs			
(2 connected institutions)
			

Closing
balance
£’000

1,717

30

34

408

2,121

3,030

53

–

703

3,786

4,747

83

34

1,111

5,907
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27. Pension Schemes
(i) Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS)
TPS is typically valued every four years by
the Government Actuary. Contributions are
paid by the University at the rate specified
following a valuation. The Scheme is
unfunded and contributions are made to
the Exchequer. The payments from the
Scheme are made from the funds voted by
Parliament. The contribution percentage
of pensionable salaries payable by the
employer was 16.48% to 31st August 2019
and 23.68% from 1st September 2019.
The TPS is a multi-employer defined benefit
pension scheme. The University is unable
to identify its share of the underlying assets
and liabilities of the scheme. Accordingly, the
University has accounted for its contributions
as if it were a defined contribution scheme.
(ii) The Universities Superannuation
Scheme (USS)
The Universities’ Superannuation Scheme
(USS) provides benefits based on final
pensionable salary. The assets of the
scheme are held in a separate fund
administered by the trustee, Universities
Superannuation Limited.
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Because of the mutual nature of the
scheme, the scheme’s assets are not
hypothecated to individual Universities and
a scheme-wide contribution rate is set. The
University is therefore exposed to actuarial
risks associated with other Universitys’
employees and is unable to identify its share
of the underlying assets and liabilities of the
scheme on a consistent and reasonable
basis and therefore, as required by FRS
102(28), accounts for the scheme as if it were
a defined contribution scheme.
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The contribution rate payable by the
University to USS s a percentage of
pensionable salaries. It was 19.50% from
1st April 2019 and 21.10% from 1st October
2019. The actuary to USS has confirmed that
it is appropriate to take the pensions costs in
the University’s accounts to be equal to the
actual contributions paid during the year.
As a result, the amount charged to the
income and expenditure account represents
the contributions payable to the scheme in
respect of the accounting period.
A new deficit recovery plan was put in place
as part of the 2017 valuation and is set out
in the new Schedule of Contributions dated
28 January 2019. This requires payment
of 5% of salaries over the period of 1 April
2020 to 30 June 2034. In accordance with
the requirements of FRS 102 and the SORP,
the University has made a provision for this
contractual commitment to fund the past
deficit. In the prior year, the deficit payments
were 2.1% of salaries up to March 2031.
The University provides for the net present
value of USS deficit funding contributions
it is required to make in future years. The
provision within the accounts at 31st July
2021 is £865,955 (2020: £969,062).

27. Pension Schemes (continued)
(iii) Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) and Enhanced TPS Contributions
The LGPS is a funded scheme providing benefits based on final pensionable pay with the assets held by a number of Pension
Authorities in separate trustee administered funds. The University is covered by the London Pension Fund Authority.
There are two separate valuations of LGPS schemes as at 31 July 2021. They relate to the University and UAL Short Courses Limited.
There is also a separate actuarial valuation of enhanced TPS pension entitlements arising from early retirements taken by staff under
past reorganisation programmes. The information set out below is based on an actuarial valuation as of 31 July 2021 carried out by a
qualified actuary.
The University also holds a closed scheme on its balance sheet relating to enhanced TPS contributions made on behalf of former
employees.
Assumptions
The financial assumptions used to calculate the schemes’ liabilities under FRS102 are: 		
University
UAL Short Courses
%pa
%pa
		
Rate of increase in salaries		
3.60
2.85
Rate of increase in pensions		
2.70
2.70
Discount rate		
1.60
1.60
The assumptions used by the actuary are the best estimates chosen from a range of possible actuarial assumptions which, due to
the timescale covered, may not necessarily be borne out in practice.
The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality rates. The average future life
expectancies at age 65 are summarised below:
Retiring today
Retiring in 20 years
		
Male
Female
Male
Female
		
Years
Years
Years
Years
LPFA (UAL)		
LPFA (UAL Short Courses Ltd)		
TPS Enhanced		

22.1
22.2
21.7

24.5
25.0
24.2

23.5
23.1
21.7

26.1
26.2
24.2
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27. Pension Schemes (continued)
Local Government Pension Scheme – University and UAL Short Courses Limited
The agreed contribution rates for the period ended 31 July 2020 was 12.06 per cent to 31st March 2020 and 15 per cent from
1st April 2020 for employers and between 5.5 and 12.5 per cent for employees throughout future periods.
The University’s share of the scheme assets represents an estimated 4.6 per cent of the total assets of the LGPS, which are not
intended to be realised in the short term and may be subject to significant change before they are realised. The present value of
the scheme’s assets is derived from cash flow projections over long periods and thus inherently uncertain.
31 July 2020
£’000

31 July 2019
£’000

Equities		199,059
Target return funds		
76,617
Cash		18,358
Infrastructure		31,090
Property		29,591

160,291
70,692
20,545
27,509
20,162

155,794
72,616
16,386
26,047
15,082

Total		354,715

299,199

285,925

Fair value of assets as at		
31 July 2021
		£’000
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The actual return on assets was 15.4% per annum.
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27. Pension Schemes (continued)
			
Year Ended
			
31 July 2021
			£’000

Year Ended
31 July 2020
£’000

Analysis of the amount shown in the balance sheet for LGPS pension:			
Scheme assets			
354,715
Scheme liabilities			
(656,787)

299,199
(584,910)

Deficit in the scheme – net pension liability			

(302,072)

(285,711)

Amounts charged in other operating expenditure
Current service cost			
Past service costs			
Administration expenses			

36,700
93
389

28,037
165
372

Total operating charge			

37,182

28,574

Analysis of the amount charged in interest
and other finance costs
Interest cost			
Interest on assets			

8,199
(4,265)

9,579
(6,125)

Net charge to other finance costs			

3,934

3,454

Analysis of charge/(credit) to other comprehensive income for LGPS:
Change in financial/demographic assumptions			
Experience (gain)/loss on defined benefit obligation			
Other acturial loss on assets			
Return on assets less interest			

39,345
(10,611)
–
(42,656)

71,568
21,354
472
822

Total other comprehensive income			

(13,922)

94,216
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27. Pension Schemes (continued)
			
At 31 July 2021
			£’000

At 31 July 2020
£’000

Defined benefit obligation		
		
At the beginning of the year			
(584,910)
(454,689)
Current service cost 			
(36,700)
(28,037)
Interest cost			
(8,199)
(9,579)
Change in financial and demographic assumptions			
(39,345)
(71,568)
Experience gain/(loss) on defined benefit obligation			
10,611
(21,354)
Estimated benefits paid net of transfers in			
6,838
5,636
Past service costs, including curtailments			
(93)
(165)
Contributions by scheme participants and other employers		
(5,109)
(5,274)
Unfunded pension payments			
120
120
			
At the end of the year			
(656,787)
(584,910)

Fair value of fund assets		
At the begining of the year			
Interest on assets			
Return on assets less interest			
Administration expenses			
Contributions by employer			
Contributions by scheme participants and other employers		
Estimated benefits paid plus unfunded net of transfers in			
Other acturial loss on assets			

299,199
4,265
42,656
(389)
10,833
5,109
(6,958)
–

285,925
6,125
(822)
(372)
9,297
5,274
(5,756)
(472)

At the end of the year			

354,715

299,199
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Scheme deficit at the end of the year			
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(302,072)

(285,711)

27. Pension Schemes (continued)
Local Government Pension Scheme – Enhanced pensions – Teachers’ Pensions Scheme
			
			
			

Year Ended
31 July 2021
£’000

Year Ended
31 July 2020
£’000

Analysis of the amount shown in the balance sheet for TPS enhanced pensions:
Scheme liabilities			

(4,288)

(4,649)

Deficit in the scheme – net pension liability			

(4,288)

(4,649)

Analysis of the amount charged to interest and other finance costs
Interest cost			

47

82

47

82

(35)
44

(54)
2

9

(52)

At 31 July 2021
£000

At 31 July 2020
£000

Defined benefit obligation
Deficit at beginning of year			
Interest cost			
Change in financial and demographic assumptions			
Experience (loss) on defined benefit obligation			
Unfunded pension payments			

(4,649)
(47)
35
(44)
417

(5,046)
(82)
54
(2)
427

Deficit at end of year			

(4,288)

(4,649)

Net charge to finance costs			
			
Analysis of other comprehensive income:			
Change in financial and demographic assumptions			
Experience loss on defined benefit obligation			
		
Total other comprehensive income			
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27. Pension Schemes (continued)
Interest and other finance costs – net charge in respect of pensions schemes
		
2021
		 Consolidated
		
£’000

2021
University
£’000

2020
2020
Consolidated
University
£’000 		£’000

LGPS		
3,935
3,819
3,454 		3,399
TPS enhanced scheme		
47
47
82 		 82
USS		
7
7
30 		 30
					
Total net charge in respect of pension schemes (Note 9)		
3,989
3,873
3,566 		3,511

Reconciliation to the balance sheet
		
2021
		 Consolidated
		
£’000

2021
University
£’000

2020
2020
Consolidated
University
£’000 		£’000

Pension liability (LGPS)		
(302,072)
(291,837)
(285,711)
(277,875)
Pension liability (TPS enhanced scheme)		
(4,288)
(4,288)
(4,649)
(4,649)
Pension liability (USS)		
(866)
(866)
(969)
(969)
					
Total pension liability		
(307,226)
(296,991)
(291,329)
(283,493)

28. Consolidated reconciliation of net debt
		
		
Net funds 1 August 2020 (restated)
Movement in cash and cash equivalents
Other non-cash changes
Change in value of financial instrument
Net funds 31 July 2021
Change in net debt

31 July 2021
£’000
137,997
(7,559)
4,673
2,997
138,108
111

Analysis of net debt:			
Restated*
		
31 July 2021
31 July 2020
			
£’000
£’000
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Cash and cash equivalents		
222,092
229,651
Borrowings: amounts falling due within one year
Unsecured loans		
(4,673)
(4,673)
							
			
(4,673)
(4,673)
Borrowings: amounts falling due after more than one year
Unsecured loans		
(72,547)
(77,220)
Financial instrument 		
(6,764)
(9,761)

90

Net funds		
*See Note 30 for details of the restatement

138,108

137,997

29. Related party transactions
Due to the nature of the University’s operations and the composition of the Court of Governors (being drawn from local, public and
private sector organisations), it is inevitable that transactions will take place with organisations in which a member of the Court of
Governors may have an interest.
All transactions involving organisations in which a member of the Court of Governors may have an interest are conducted at arm’s length
and in accordance with the University’s financial regulations and normal procurement procedures.
The following related party transactions took place during the year. All transactions were undertaken on an arm’s-length basis:
Expenditure totalling £7,200 (2020: £6,840) was paid to Creative Industries Federation, relating to the University’s annual membership
fee. The entity is related to the University by virtue of unremunerated Director, Sir Nigel Carrington, being a former governor and ViceChancellor of the University (retired 31 March 2021).
Expenditure totalling £73,459 (2020: £38,017) was paid to Universities UK. The entity is related to the University by virtue of an
unremunerated Director, Sir Nigel Carrington, being a former governor and Vice-Chancellor of the University (retired 31 March 2021).
Expenditure totalling £55,583 (2020: £57,351) was paid to the Advance HE for membership subscription fees and HE focused strategic
advice and services. The entity is related to the University by virtue of the unremunerated Chair of Advance HE, Sir Nigel Carrington
being a former governor and Vice-Chancellor of the University (retired 31 March 2021), and by virtue of a trustee Heather Francis, being
the Chief Operating Officer.
Expenditure totalling £177,747 (2020: £316,477) was paid to Pinsent Masons LLP relating mainly to legal services. The entity is related to
the University by virtue of a remunerated Partner, David Isaac CBE (stood down 30 April 2021), being the Chair of the Court of Governors
of the University.
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30. Nature of Prior Year Adjustment
The University has a fixed interest rate swap in place over a variable interest rate loan facility. At 31 July 2021 the loan facility has
not been drawn down and the swap arrangements have not become effective in year. The swap is considered to be a separate
financial instrument which is transferrable between the existing loan facility and any new loan facility. While the swap is cancellable
in the future, a financial obligation would arise on cancellation. The swap has not previously been recognised as a liability and
an adjustment is necessary to the prior year’s financial statements to recognise the financial instrument at fair value, with the
movement in the fair value in the year being recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.
The following tables summarises the impact on the University’s and the Group’s financial statements at 1 August 2019 and
31 July 2020.
Consolidated

Initial Recognition of financial instrument
Unrestricted reserves

To recognise the value of the financial instrument at 31 July 2020
Balance Sheet
Creditors due in more than one year
Unrestricted reserves
Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Other gains and losses

arts.ac.uk

Cash Flow Statement
Surplus for the year
Increase in creditors
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1 August 2019
£’000

Adjustment
£’000

Restated
1 August 2019
(000)

(319,971)

5,794

(314,177)

31 July 2020
£’000

Adjustment
£’000

Restated
31 July 2020
£’000

(95,598)
(234,339)

(9,761)
9,761

(105,359)
(224,578)

–

3,967

3,967

8,420
796

(3,967)
3,967

4,453
4,763

University

Initial Recognition of financial instrument
Unrestricted reserves

To recognise the value of the financial instrument at 31 July 2020
Balance Sheet
Creditors due in more than one year
Unrestricted reserves
Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Other gains and losses

1 August 2019
£’000

Adjustment
£’000

Restated
1 August 2019
(000)

(320,870)

5,794

(315,076)

31 July 2020
£’000

Adjustment
£’000

Restated
31 July 2020
£’000

(95,598)
(240,823)

(9,761)
9,761

(105,359)
(231,062)

–

3,967

3,967

31. Non adjusting Post Balance Sheet Events
As set out in Note 27 in respect of the USS pension scheme, a new Schedule of Contributions based on the 2020 actuarial
valuation has been agreed. This results in a increase of £1,417,660 in the provision for the obligation to fund the deficit on the USS
pension and the new provision is now £2,386,723. This adjustment will be reflected in the University’s Financial Statements for the
year ended 31 July 2022.
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32. US Department of Education Financial Responsibility Supplemental Schedule
In satisfaction of its obligations to facilitate students’ access to US federal financial aid, the University is required, by the US Department of
Education, to present the following Supplemental Schedule in a prescribed format.
The amounts presented within the schedules have been:
– prepared under the historical cost convention, subject to the revaluation of certain fixed assets;
– prepared using United Kingdom generally accepted accounting practice, in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102)
and the Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and Higher Education (2019 edition);
– presented in pounds sterling (£).
The schedules set out how each amount disclosed has been extracted from the financial statements. As set out above, the accounting policies
used in determining the amounts disclosed are not intended to and do not comply with the requirements of accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.
Year ended
Year ended
31 July 2021 31 July 2020
£’000
£’000
Primary Reserve Ratio
Expendable net assets
Statement of Financial Position
Balance Sheet – Income and expenditure– unrestricted reserves
Balance Sheet – Income and expenditure– restricted reserves
Note 29
– Related party transactions
Note 29
– Related party transactions
Balance Sheet – Fixed and Heritage assets

(245,250)
(7,219)
–
–
485,689

(481,465)

(428,191)

–

–

(4,616)

(32,794)

(66,756)
–
–
–
3,988
–
(307,226)
77,220
(77,220)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(1,850)

(24,704)
–
–
–
4,077
–
(291,329)
81,893
(81,893)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(2,036)

(336,251)
20,914 a
4,004 b
–

(327,188)
(95,333) a
2,798 b
–

– P roperty, Plant and Equipment (PPE; NBV less fixed
asset additions)

PPE– pre-implementation

Note 11

– Additions– Fixed assets

PPE– post-implementation with outstanding debt for original purchase

Note 11

– A dditions– Fixed assets (less additions to Assets
in the course of constuction )

PPE– post-implementation without outstanding debt for original purchase

– Additions– assets in the course of construction
– Lease right-of-use assets, net
– Lease right-of-use asset pre-implementation
– Lease right-of-use asset pre-implementation
Balance Sheet – Goodwill ( negative)
Balance Sheet – Other intangible assets
Note 20
– Pension provision
Note 19
– Creditors– due more than one year -unsecured loans
Note 19
– Creditors– due more than one year -unsecured loans
– Creditors
– Creditors
– Creditors
– Lease right-of-use asset liability pre-implementation
– Lease right-of-use asset liability post-implementation
– Creditors
– Endowment reserves
– Reserves
Balance Sheet – Restricted reserve
SOCIE*
SOCIE
SOCIE
SOCIE
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(268,645)
(8,234)
–
–
552,837

Note 10

Note 11
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Net assets without donor restrictions
Net assets with donor restrictions
Secured and Unsecured related party receivable
Unsecured related party receivable
PPE, net (includes Construction in progress)

Statement of Activities– Total expenditure
Statement of Activities – Non-Operating and Net Investment
Statement of Activities – Investment income; loss on investment
Statement of Activities– Pension

*SOCIE – (Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expediture)

Construction in progress
Lease right-of-use asset, net
Lease right-of-use asset pre-implementation
Lease right-of-use asset post-implementation
Intangible assets
Intangible assets
Post-employment and pension liabilities
Long-term debt– for long term purposes
Long-term debt– for long term purposes pre-implementation
Long-term debt– for long term purposes post-implementation
Line of Credit for Construction in process
Lease right-of-use asset liability
Pre-implementation right-of-use leases
Post-implementation right-of-use leases
Annuities with donor restrictions
Term endowments with donor restrictions
Life income funds with donor restrictions
Net assets with donor restrictions: restricted in perpetuity
Total Expenses and Losses
Total expenses without donor restrictions
Non-Operating and Net Investment (loss)
Net investment losses
Pension-related changes other than net periodic costs

32. US Department of Education Financial Responsibility Supplemental Schedule (continued)

Year ended
Year ended
31 July 2021 31 July 2020
£’000

£’000

Net assets without donor restrictions
Net assets with donor restrictions
Intangible assets
Secured and Unsecured related party receivable
Unsecured related party receivable
Modified Assets
Total Assets
Lease right-of-use asset pre-implementation
Pre-implementation right-of-use leases
Intangible assets
Secured and Unsecured related party receivable
Unsecured related party receivable

(268,645)
(8,234)
3,988
–
–

(245,250)
(7,219)
4,077
-

(790,625)
–
–
3,988
–
–

(731,870)
4,077
-

Change in Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions
Total Revenue and Gains

(23,395) c
(339,747)

89,905 c
(332,810)

Equity ratio
Modified net assets
Statement of Financial Position
Balance Sheet – Income and expenditure– unrestricted reserves
Balance Sheet – Total Net Assets with Donor Restrictions
Note 10
– Goodwill (negative)
– Related party transactions
– Related party transactions
Balance Sheet – Fixed assets plus current assets

Note 10
Note 29
Note 29

– Goodwill ( negative)
– Related party transactions
– Related party transactions

Net Income Ratio
Statement of Activities
Balance Sheet – Change in Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions
SOCIE
– Total Income less investment income

Notes to 32
		
		
a.
Non-Operating and Net Investment (loss)
Investment income (SOCIE)
(Loss)/gain on investment (SOCIE)
Actuarial gain / (loss) in respect of pension schemes (SOCIE)
Gain/(loss) on financial instrument
		
b.
Net investment losses
Investment income (SOCIE)
(Loss)/gain on investment (SOCIE)
		
c.
Change in Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions
Total income (SOCIE)
Total expenditure (SOCIE)
(Loss)/gain on investment (SOCIE)
Gain/(loss) on financial instrument (SOCIE)
Actuarial gain / (loss) in respect of pension schemes (SOCIE)
Less
Endowment comprehensive income for the year
Restricted comprehensive income for the year
		

Year Ended
Year Ended
31 July 2021 31 July 2020
£’000
£’000
5,042
(1,038)
13,913
2,997

2,731
67
(94,164)
(3,967)

20,914

(95,333)

5,042
(1,038)

2,731
67

4,004

2,798

344,789
(336,251)
(1,038)
2,997
13,913

335,541
(327,188)
67
(3,967)
(94,164)

1,201
(186)

77
117

23,395

(89,905)
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